
For more information, contact: 
Division of Workers’ Compensation 

labor.alaska.gov/wc/ | (907) 465-2790 

 

State of Alaska 
Department of Labor & Workforce Development 

Division of Workers’ Compensation 

 

 

 

Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board 

Public Meeting Packet 
 

October 23-24, 2025 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

TAB 1 Agenda 
Page 4 

TAB 2 Board Minutes May 15, 2025 
Page 7 

TAB 3 Board Member Roster 
Page 11 

TAB 4 
Page 13 

TAB 5 
Page 15 
Page 29 
Page 31 
Page 32 
Page 33 
Page 34 

TAB 6 
Page 41 
Page 85 
Page 103 
Page 117 
Page 131 

TAB 7 
Page 134 

TAB 8 
Page 185 

TAB 9 
Page 256 

Board Designees 

Director’s Report 
Director’s Report 
NCCI Circular September 2, 2025 
Organization Staffing Chart 
WSCAA Fund Balance Report 
Vacancy Rate Report 
FY2025 Annual Budget Report 

Annual Reports 
2024 Workers’ Compensation Annual 
Report Special Programs: BGF, FF, SIF 
Special Investigation Unit 
Reemployment Benefits 
SIME Statistics 

Case Summaries 

Fee Schedule and Regulation 
2026 Medical Fee Schedule 

Public Comment 
MyMatrixx public comment 

002



TAB 1 

003



AWCB Board Meeting Agenda, Oct 2025     Page 1 of 2 

ALASKA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
OCT 23-24, 2025 

ALASKA DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT 
DIVISION OF WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 

Zoom Video Conference: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84407872140  
To participate telephonically: 833-548-0276, Webinar ID: 844 0787 2140 

 
 

Thursday, Oct 23, 2025 
9:00am Call to order 

Roll call establishment of quorum 
Introduction of Senior Staff 

9:10am Approval of Agenda 
9:15am Reading and approval of minutes from May 15, 2025, Board meeting 
9:30am Director’s Report 

• Division Update  
• Approval of Board Designees 

10:00am Break 
10:15am Public Comment Period 

• Public comments  
11:15am Budget & Staffing Update – Alexis Hildebrand, Admin Officer 
11:30am 2024 Annual Report 

• Workers’ Compensation – Velma Thomas, Program Coordinator 
• Special Programs - Velma Thomas, Program Coordinator 

12:00pm Lunch Break 
1:30pm 2024 Annual Report Continued 

• Workers’ Compensation – Velma Thomas, Program Coordinator 
• Special Programs - Velma Thomas, Program Coordinator 
• Reemployment Benefits Overview – Stacy Niwa, Reemployment Benefits 

Administrator 
3:00pm Break 
3:15pm 2024 Annual Report Continued 

• Workers’ Compensation SIU Overview – Michele Wall-Rood, Chief 
Investigator of the Special Investigations Unit 

• SIME Annual Report – Janel Wright, Chief of Adjudications 
5:00pm Adjournment 
 

 
 

004

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84407872140


AWCB Board Meeting Agenda, Oct 2025     Page 2 of 2 

Friday, Oct 24, 2025  
9:00am Call to order 

Roll call establishment of quorum 
9:05am Workers’ Compensation Law Review 

• Decisions and Summaries – Bill Soule Esq. 
10:00am Break 
10:30am Old Business 

• Proposed Regulation Updates 
 8 AAC 45.083 Fees for Medical 
 AO 360 review 

12:00pm Lunch Break 
1:30pm Old Business Continued 

• Proposed Regulation Updates 
 8 AAC 45.900 Definitions. 

3:30pm Break 
3:45pm New Business  

• Proposed New Regulation Work 
 See List in Director’s Report 

5:00pm Adjournment 
 

005



TAB 2 

006



 
Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board Meeting, May 15, 2025  Page 1 of 3 

 

Workers’ Compensation Board 
Meeting Minutes 

May 15, 2025 
 
 
Thursday, May 15, 2025 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
Director Charles Collins called the meeting to order at 9:50 a.m. in Anchorage, Alaska. 
Participation was available in person and via video conference. 

II. ROLL CALL 
The following Board Members were present, constituting a quorum: 
 
Brad Austin Randy Beltz Pamela Cline Sara Faulkner 
Bronson Frye Anthony Ladd Sarah Lefebvre Debbie White 
Lake Williams Brian Zematis   
 
Members John Corbett and Mike Dennis were excused. 
 

III. AGENDA APPROVAL  
Member Lefebvre moved to approve the agenda, seconded by Member Zematis. Member 
Lefebvre noted that items requested in the January 9–10, 2025, minutes—specifically the draft 
resolution for an ombudsman program and WSCAA funding, as well as the history of the term 
previously rehabilitated—were not included in the agenda. Member Lefebvre amended the 
motion to add these items to Old Business; Member Zematis seconded. The amended agenda 
was approved unanimously. 
 

IV. APPROVAL OF JANUARY 9-10, 2025 MEETING MINUTES 
Member Beltz moved to approve the minutes, seconded by Member Austin. The minutes were 
adopted without objection. 
 

V. DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
Director Collins provided division updates and reviewed upcoming Board Member term 
expirations, as well as the list of Board Designees. Two errors were identified and corrected in 
the designee list. He also presented the 2026 Board Calendar. Additionally, Director Collins 
discussed the hiring and travel freeze and its anticipated impact on the Division. He reviewed 
the current organizational chart, noted existing vacancies, and emphasized the Division’s 
priority in filling those positions. 
 
A motion to approve the designees was made by Member Austin, seconded by Member White. 
The motion passed unanimously.  

VI. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD: 10:15 AM- 11:15 AM 

Jeffery Holloway – Babcock, Holloway, Caldwell & Stires 
 Mr. Holloway expressed support for the proposed amendment to 8 AAC 45.092, which 

would allow for the digitization of SIME records. He noted that preparing paper records 
has been costly and inefficient, citing a personal case where six sets of binders cost 
nearly $1,000. Holloway recommended modifying the regulation further to improve the 

007



 
Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board Meeting, May 15, 2025  Page 2 of 3 

 

organization of records: he suggested delaying the final numbering and filing of records 
until after the SIME appointment is set, allowing all documents to be submitted in 
chronological order. This, he argued, would reduce confusion from misnumbered or 
out-of-order records and benefit both parties and physicians. 

 Board members expressed appreciation for Mr. Holloway’s valuable input and asked 
questions about how potential additional changes could help streamline the process. 

Jonathon Faulkner – President of Land’s End Acquisition Corporation 
 Mr. Faulkner raised concerns about Workers’ Compensation Division practices that 

allow claims to proceed without a preliminary determination of legal merit. He argued 
that this leads to settlements of potentially baseless claims, harming employers through 
increased insurance costs and discouraging benefits like employee housing. Citing a 
specific claim he believes was wrongly accepted, Mr. Faulkner urged the Division to 
assess whether claims meet statutory requirements before allowing them to proceed. 

 Board members acknowledged Mr. Faulkner’s concerns but explained that the system’s 
presumption of compensability is a foundational part of Alaska’s workers' 
compensation structure, intended to balance protections for both workers and 
employers. Director Collins agreed to follow up with Faulkner, and members expressed 
openness to discussing related issues such as the remote site doctrine and potential 
statutory reform. 

VII. DIRECTOR’S REPORT, CONTINUED 

A motion to approve the calendars was made by Member Lefebvre, seconded by Member 
Zematis. Member Frye noted that the proposed August meeting coincides with the AFL-CIO’s 
convention. Member Lefebvre amended the motion to move the Joint Meeting to August 28, 
2026; Member Zematis seconded. The motion passed unanimously. Member Lefebvre 
requested that calendar invites be sent for all scheduled meetings.  
 
Break 11:28am-11:44am 

VIII. REGULATIONS 

Chief Janel Wright provided an overview of the recommended amendments to SIME 
regulation 8 AAC 45.092.  

Member Lefebvre moved to approve the 8 AAC 45.092(b); Member Frye seconded. The Board 
discussed the current SIME physician selection process. The motion was tabled for further 
discussion. 

Lunch Break 12:20pm – 1:48pm 

8 AAC 45.900(j) – Definition of “Previously Rehabilitated” 

Member Zematis moved to approve the amendment; Member Frye seconded. The Board 
discussed the effective date language in the current regulation and considered whether the 
regulation could be repealed in favor of relying on AS 23.30.041(f)(3). The motion failed with 
five in favor and four opposed. Members Beltz, Cline, Frye, Williams, and Zematis voted in 
favor; Members Austin, Faulkner, Lefebvre, and White voted against; and Member Ladd 
abstained. 
 

008



 
Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board Meeting, May 15, 2025  Page 3 of 3 

 

8 AAC 45.176(d)(3) – Assessment of Civil Penalties  
Chief Investigator Michele Wall-Rood presented the proposed amendment to add the word 
“consecutive” before “calendar days.” Motion to approve by Member Cline; seconded by 
Member Lefebvre. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
8 AAC 45.180(b) – Attorney Fees 
Motion to approve by Member Zematis; seconded by Member Frye. Motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
8 AAC 45.092(b) – SIME Physician List (Un-tabled and Amended) 
Member Lefebvre un-tabled the motion; seconded by Member Frye. She presented a revised 
version and amended the motion accordingly. The motion passed unanimously.  
 
8 AAC 45.092(h) – SIME Procedures 
Motion to approve by Member Lefebvre; seconded by Member Cline. Motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
8 AAC 45.083 – Medical Treatment and Services Fees  
Member Lefebvre moved to approve the repeal and readoption; seconded by Member Zematis. 
The Board discussed adding a new subsection (c) with language regarding conversion factors 
and coding based on CPT guidelines. Member Lefebvre amended the motion accordingly; 
Member Zematis seconded. The amended motion passed unanimously.  
 
Member Zematis moved that the Board draft regulatory language in line with Mr. Holloway’s 
recommendations for presentation at the October Board Meeting; seconded by Member 
Lefebvre. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Member Lefebvre requested that the following topics be included under Old Business on the 
agenda for the October meeting: the Board’s ongoing financial challenges; a draft resolution 
addressing the establishment of an ombudsman program and the use of electronic service. 
Member Lefebvre also requested that the NCCI report be distributed with the August 22 Joint 
Meeting packet.  

IX. ADJOURNMENT 
Director Collins reminded the Board that the Joint Board-MSRC Meeting is scheduled for 
August 22, 2025, and the next regular Board Meeting is scheduled for October 2025. 

Motion to adjourn by Member Frye, seconded by Member Zematis. Motion passed 
unanimously. 

Meeting adjourned at 3:39 pm 

009



TAB 3 

010



 

 

 
 

ALASKA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BOARD 
 

Chair, Commissioner Catherine Muñoz 
Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development 

 
 

Name Seat District Affiliation 
 
Charles Collins 

 
Commissioner’s Designee 

 

    
Brad Austin Labor 1st Judicial District Plumbers and Pipe Fitters Local 262 
Debbie White Industry 1st Judicial District  
    
Randy Beltz Industry 3rd Judicial District  
Pamela Cline Labor 3rd Judicial District Intl. Brotherhood of Electrical Workers LU 1547 
Mike Dennis Industry 3rd Judicial District  
Sara Faulkner Industry 3rd Judicial District  
Bronson Frye Labor 3rd Judicial District Painters and Allied Trades Local 1959 
Anthony Ladd Labor 3rd Judicial District  
Vacant Labor 3rd Judicial District  
Vacant Industry 3rd Judicial District  
Vacant Industry 3rd Judicial District  
Vacant Labor 3rd Judicial District  
    
John Corbett Labor 2nd/4th Judicial District Laborers Local 942 
Sarah Lefebvre Industry 2nd/4th Judicial District Colaska 
Lake Williams Labor 2nd/4th Judicial District Operating Engineers Local 302 
Vacant Industry 2nd/4th Judicial District  
    
Brian Zematis Labor At Large   
Vacant Industry At Large  

 
 

011



TAB 4 

012



 

Department of Labor and 
Workforce Development 

 
DIVISION OF WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 

 
P.O. BOX 115512 

Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512 
Main: 907.465.2790 

Fax: 907.465.2797 

 
 

BOARD DESIGNEES – OCT 2025 

The following staff members are appointed as Board designees to act on the Board’s behalf in accordance with 
the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act and Regulations. (For example, the Board designee may conduct 
prehearing conferences, take action in connection with Board-ordered second independent medical examinations, 
and decide whether to continue or cancel scheduled Board hearipngs.) 

    

NAME LOCATION POSITION TITLE 
   
Charles Collins Juneau Director 
   
Janel Wright Anchorage Chief of Adjudications 
   
Kyle Reding Anchorage WC Hearing Officer II 
William Soule Anchorage WC Hearing Officer II 
Vacant Anchorage WC Hearing Officer I/II 
Vacant Anchorage WC Hearing Officer I/II 
Kathryn Setzer Juneau WC Hearing Officer II 
Robert Vollmer Fairbanks WC Hearing Officer II 
Vacant Fairbanks WC Hearing Officer I/II 
   
Elizabeth Pleitez Anchorage WC Officer II 
Harvey Pullen Anchorage WC Officer II 
Amanda Johnson Anchorage WC Officer II 
Carrie Craig Anchorage WC Officer I 
Vacant Anchorage WC Officer I 
Vacant Juneau WC Officer II 
Vacant Fairbanks WC Officer II 

 

013



TAB 5 

014



 
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION DIVISION 

 

 

 

OCTOBER 2025 ALASKA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 

 DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 

 

 

 

…to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured 
workers at a reasonable cost to the employers… 

  

015



ALASKA WORKERS COMPENSATION BOARD NEWS 

The Board is still down several positions. A few applicants have been accepted but we still have openings, 
especially in District 3, that is the Anchorage, Mat Valley, and the Kenai Peninsula.  

The members whose terms were up that reapplied have all been forwarded to the Legislature. 

Name Panel Affiliation Term Date 

Brad Austin Southern Labor 2028 

Debbie White Southern Industry 2027 

Randy Beltz Southcentral Industry 2028 

Mike Dennis Southcentral Industry 2028 

Sara Faulkner Southcentral Industry 2028 

Vacant Southcentral Industry 2028 

Vacant Southcentral Industry 2026 

Bronson Frye Southcentral Labor 2027 

Pam Cline Southcentral Labor 2027 

Anthony Ladd Southcentral Labor 2026 

Vacant Southcentral Labor 2026 

Vacant Southcentral Labor 2027 

Sarah LeFebvre Northern Industry 2028 

Vacant Northern Industry 2028 

Lake Williams Northern Labor 2026 

John Corbett Northern Labor 2026 

Vacant At Large Industry 2027 

Brian Zematis At Large Labor 2026 

016



ALASKA WORKERS COMPENSATION RESOLUTIONS 

The Board has active resolutions that have been shared with the Legislature and the Governor’s office. A list 
of those can be found on the Boards web page, Workers' Compensation Board. Resolution 24-01 is the only 
active Resolution and communicates our desire to use electronic mail for service delivery and reduce the 
costs to the Division by removing the requirement to send documents by certified mail. A new Resolution on 
the establishment of a workers’ compensation ombudsman position is included in the Board packet for 
consideration in this meeting. 

REGULATIONS 

As an empowered Board with the task of providing regulations for procedures, benefits and other matters 
under the Alaska Workers Compensation Act, an ongoing task is the updating of our regulations. This process 
is ongoing and can be tedious, but very important.  

LEGISLATION 

Several pieces of legislation could be passed into law that affects workers’ compensation. Additionally, we 
have been contacted by several parties about possible legislation action in process. The Department has 
asked the Governor to put forth a bill to increase the revenue flow into WSCAA, this would increase the fee on 
insurance premiums and will impact costs passed on to employers. 

House Bill 44 – This bill would add a death benefit for the estate or parents of a worker who had no 
dependents. House Labor and Commerce committee heard this bill but there was no movement. 

House Bill 88 – Tuition Waivers for peace officers, firefighters and armed forces members. This bill would 
allow for tuition to be waived for dependents if an injury occurred in the line of duty. House Education 
committee, no hearings. 

House Bill 103 – A change in the language for the firefighter presumption in AS 23.30.121. Changes the exam 
schedule from annual to biannual. House Labor and Commerce, no hearings yet. 

Senate Bill 35 – Delivery Network Companies, or what I call Uber Eats. This will exempt delivery network 
couriers from the workers’ compensation benefits and identify those couriers as independent contractors. 
This closes a gap in the Transportation Network Company Act as drivers transporting passengers are deemed 
exempt in Alaska, but no mention is made of delivery network drivers, who may also work as delivery 
couriers. This bill sets equal status for both types of network company drivers to be treated as independent 
contractors. This bill was passed in Senate Affairs and is now in Senate Labor and Commerce. During the 
summer several meetings have been held on this legislation and amendments are pending. I expect this bill 
to pass.  

Senate Bill 132 and House Bill 148 – an omnibus insurance bill that affects workers’ compensation. This 
legislation passed and was signed into law by the Governor. 

017

https://labor.alaska.gov/wc/wcboard.htm


Senate Bill 134 and House Bill 149 – Pharmacy Benefit Managers. Adds the ability for the Director of 
Insurance to examine pharmacy benefit managers and third-party administrators to the list of insurance 
entities in statute. Requires pharmacy benefit managers and third-party administrators to be licensed in 
Alaska. This bill is in Senate Rules, it will come to the Senate floor for a vote in the next session. 

House Bill 193 – Paid Parental leave Act, has nothing to do with Workers’ Compensation, however the 
Division has expertise in paying claims and has been suggested as a possible home for the claim tracking, 
adjudications, and paying of these benefits. This bill would allow for a weekly payment for new parents to 
collect a stipend mirroring the unemployed insurance process with funding coming from a fee on employers 
and employees and collected by the unemployment insurance team. This bill is in House Labor & Commerce 
and has been active between sessions.  

Other bills are under construction in the Capitol that we are watching carefully, a proposal that would allow 
state actions and public hearings to be served by means prescribed by regulation, removing the certified mail 
requirement. Several versions of funding bills using fees levied on employers / employee’s paycheck, for 
example training funds, most of these bills lower the employment security tax sent to the Federal 
Unemployment Trust Fund and use those funds for job skill improvement training.   

ISSUES ON THE HORIZON TO BE AWARE OF 

For 2026 the Medical Services Review Committee will look different. Dr. Jeff Moore is stepping down, as he 
slows down his active practice and steps back from a leadership role in his clinic, he has made the decision 
to spend more time on grandkids who have recently moved to Alaska. Pam Scott, one of the original MSRC 
members, has also decided it is time to transition out of everyday work. Pam has moved out of Alaska, and 
we thank her for the time and effort over the years on the Medical Fee Schedule. Finally, Susan Kosinski has 
also decided to step down from the committee. Susan has recently taken on new duties, and we wish her 
great success in this endeavor. 

 

 

The board may recall that last August, (2024), our Medical Fee Schedule contractor Optum, transferred the 
portion of their business performing these fee schedule tasks to a new company named RefMed. Our author, 
Carla Gee, continued with us and was instrumental once again this year in keeping us on task and answering 
questions to produce the 2026 Official Workers’ Compensation Medical Fee Schedule. Carla has recently 
decided to retire, and the last note I received said she is bicycling in Europe and will no longer be our point 
person on medical billing questions. While devasting news to me personally, I was overjoyed when the 
replacement contacted us as I already knew her, Danean Tedford is RefMed’s new contact for us and Danean 
has a long background in workers compensation. Danean is a medical coding expert and performed claim 
work for Walmart for several years.  

DIRECTOR THOUGHTS FOR 2025 - 2026 

This year began with a little anxiety and a lot of hope, new programs, changes in reemployment benefits and 
several items the AWCB had worked on for years has now begun. The Division is operating with a few 
vacancies and will likely continue in this for the next fiscal cycle. I will note that we have continued to offer 
excellent service to the claimants and attorney representatives and will continue to concentrate on those 

018



aspects of service. This may cause some issues of short notification to Board members when stipulations 
need answers, and we are unable to forward those documents as quickly as in the past.  

We continue to struggle with the budgetary limit from our Workers Safety and Compensation Administrative 
Account, WSCAA, which is based on a service fee from market insurer premiums, AS 21.09.210, and self-
insured annual expenditures, AS 23.05.067. Expenses have continued to rise, and the Workers’ 
Compensation Division is not immune to the pressures of inflation. 

 

The Division is in the unenviable position of competing for General Fund dollars, and some tough decisions 
have been made to continue operations. This has included holding several positions vacant, limiting travel, 
and closing the Fairbanks location for the current period. 

For context, Alaska’s fee on insurance premiums is 2.7 percent up to $100,000 and 0.08 percent on 
premiums exceeding the $100,000 level. The WSCAA fund receives 2.5% of the premium fee and 2.9% of 
benefits paid from self-insured entities. This has resulted in approximately $6.5 million in the past several 
years and has not kept pace with our expenses.  

 

FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28

Leg Allocation from WSCAA 7,266,100.00$     7,418,900.00$     7,907,700.00$     8,032,600.00$     
WSCAA Revenue 6,507,298.10$     6,722,658.41$     6,651,845.00$     6,743,455.00$     6,879,797.00$     6,995,554.00$     

Empty Authority 758,801.90$        696,241.59$        1,255,855.00$     1,289,145.00$     

Workers' Comp 5,647,669.82$      5,679,967.68$      5,573,382.00$      7,047,300.00$      7,089,584.00$      7,132,121.00$      
WC Appeals Commission 391,564.18$          373,796.46$          371,610.00$          478,000.00$          480,868.00$          483,753.00$          
WC Capital Improvement Project -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         
Occupational Safety and Health 157,410.18$          226,803.12$          616,503.00$          713,900.00$          718,183.00$          722,493.00$          
Labor Market Info 83,603.79$            69,946.26$            77,426.00$            141,800.00$          142,651.00$          143,507.00$          

Expenditure Total 6,280,247.97$     6,350,513.52$     6,638,921.00$     8,381,000.00$     8,431,286.00$     8,481,874.00$     

Revenue Shortfall 227,050.13$        372,144.89$        12,924.00$          (1,637,545.00)$    (1,551,489.00)$    (1,486,320.00)$    
Projection

Workers Safety and Compensation Administration Account (WSCAA)

019



Alaska has held very steady on total costs for premiums and self-insurance reimbursement since 2019. 

STAY-AT-WORK / RETURN-TO-WORK 

The Stay-at-Work / Return-to-Work program continues to expand as employers and employees become 
aware of the program. Program Coordinator Grace has reached out to employer groups, educated insurance 
adjusters, and communicated with injured employees the benefits of this new program.  

 

From January 1, 2025, through October of 2025, we have received a total of 574 employer notices that 
employees injured on or after January 1, 2025, have missed 25 consecutive days of employment due to their 
work injury.  We received 325 responses from both employees and employers and of those 130 cases have 
opted out of the stay-at-work program, 54 have elected stay-at-work, and the rest will be participating in the 
reemployment benefits process. The Rehabilitation Benefits group has logged 1,917 entries via phone, email, 
or walk in for SAW/RTW questions.  

Currently, fifty-four cases are in the process of a stay-at-work plan, twelve have returned to work. Another 
one hundred and forty-one cases have elected reemployment benefits instead of the SAW/RTW process. 

 

TOTAL COSTS TO WORKERS COMPENSATION IN ALASKA 

The Oregon Department of Consumer and Business Services, which ranks all the nation’s workers’ 
compensation costs on a biannual basis, and Alaska continues to shine by carefully controlling costs and 
partnering with providers and payers to improve outcomes for injured workers.   

020



 

Alaska rose one position since the 2022 survey, but has mover 1% closed to the median for compensation 
premiums nationwide.  

  

021



“PREVIOUSLY REHABILITATED” HISTORY 

f an injured worker has been “previously rehabilitated” he or she is not eligible for reemployment benefits.  The Alaska 
Workers’ Compensation Act provides a statutory definition of “previously rehabilitated” at AS 23.30.041(f). 

 

AS 23.30.041.  Rehabilitation of injured workers. . . . 

 

Pre-2005 Amendments: 

 

(f) An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if 

. . . . 

(2) the employee has been previously rehabilitated in a former workers’ compensation claim and returned to 
work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of 
the previous injury;  

. . . .  

 

2005 Amendments: 

 

(f) An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if 

. . . . 

(2) the employee previously declined the development of a reemployment benefits plan under (g) of this 
section, received a job dislocation benefit under (g)(2) of this section, and returned to work in the same or 
similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury; 

(3) the employee has been previously rehabilitated in a former workers’ compensation claim and returned to 
work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of 
the previous injury;  

. . . .  

 

On July 18, 2005, the Attorney General’s analysis of the 2005 amendments was provided to Gov. Murkowski, which 
noted AS 23.30.041(f) was changed to add an additional disqualification for reemployment benefits.  The added 
disqualification is contained in subsection (2) above.  An injured worker will be found ineligible for reemployment 
benefits under AS 23.30.042(f)(2) if the employee has been found eligible for reemployment benefits in an earlier 
case, declined those benefits, and selected a job dislocation benefit.  If the employee returned to work in a job with 
the same or similar physical demands as the employee’s job of injury and was injured again, he or she would not be 
eligible for reemployment benefits. 

 

AS 23.30.041(f)’s former subsection (2) became subsection (3), but neither the subsection’s language nor its effect 
changed.  But the Attorney General’s letter to Gov. Murkowski also provided valuable insight into the legislative 
intent behind the original pre-2005 §.041(f)(2).  The letter stated, “This subsection [the amended 2005 §.041(f)(2)] 
parallels the current disqualification of an employee who receives reemployment benefits through a reemployment 
plan, but who returns to work in the same or similarly demanding occupation as when previously injured and is injured 

022



again.”  (Italics added).  This demonstrates that the legislative and executive branches both considered a person to be 
“previously rehabilitated” only after they had gone through a “reemployment plan.” 

 

Believing injured workers regularly settled reemployment benefits and then returned to their jobs of injury or jobs 
with the same or similar physical demands, the Board desired to adopt a definition of “previously rehabilitated” to 
prevent this practice.  The Board adopted 8 AAC 45.900(j) on December 22, 2011.  This definition expanded the 
statute’s definition of “previously rehabilitated” to include waiving reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041(q) or 
AS 23.30.012, or similar laws in other jurisdictions. 

 

Effective December 22, 2011: 

 

8 AAC 45.900(j).  For an injury occurring after the effective date of this subsection, “previously rehabilitated” under 
AS 23.30.041(f)(3) means having  

(1) completed a reemployment benefits plan under AS 23.30.041 or a substantially similar law in another 
jurisdiction; or  

(2) waived reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041(q), 23.30.012, or a substantially similar law in another 
jurisdiction. 

 
The Board considered amendments to the regulation in 2017.  The proposed amendment was to add to subsection (2) 
stipulated to eligibility, or received or having been eligible to receive an eligibility evaluation under AS 
23.30.041(c) and waived reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041(q), 23.30.012, or a substantially similar law in 
another jurisdiction.  This amended version did not pass.  The proposed amendment was revised during an October 6, 
2017 Board meeting.  The minutes say, “Member Murphy moved to amend the original amendment to substitute new 
language suggested by the Reemployment Benefits Administrator. . . .  There was no objection. . . .  The motion to 
adopt the amendment of 8 AAC 45.900(j) passed unanimously.” 
 
The amendments to “previously rehabilitated” adopted on October 6, 2017, went into effect on July 27, 2017. 

 

Effective July 27, 2017: 

8 AAC 45.900(j).  For an injury occurring after December 22, 2011, "previously rehabilitated" under AS 
23.30.041(f)(3) means having  

(1) completed a reemployment benefits plan under AS 23.30.041 or a substantially similar law in another 
jurisdiction; or  

(2) done both of the following:  

 

(A) having stipulated to eligibility, having an eligibility request approved, or having an eligibility evaluation 
ordered under AS 23.30.041(c);  

(B) having waived reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041(q), 23.30.012, or a substantially similar law 
in another jurisdiction. 
 

023



Under the pre-2005 amendments to AS 23.30.041(f), an injured worker was not eligible for reemployment benefits if 
he or she completed a reemployment plan and returned to work in a job with the same or similar physical demands as 
the job of injury.  That was consistent with the statute’s clear and plain language. 
 

After the 2005 amendments, the previous subsection (f)(2) was renumbered and is now subsection (f)(3).  Other than 
the number, nothing in that subsection changed.  A new subsection was added, which provided an additional basis for 
an injured worker to be found not eligible for reemployment benefits, which is if the employee is found eligible and 
declines reemployment benefits and, instead, accepts a job dislocation benefit and then returns to work in a job with 
the same or similar physical demands as the job of injury. 
 
Under both (f)(2) and (3), to be not eligible for reemployment benefits, an injured worker must return to work in the 
same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury. 
 
The current regulation’s definition of “previously rehabilitated” under AS 23.30.041(f) renders an injured worker not 
eligible for reemployment benefits if an employee completed a reemployment plan; or either stipulated to eligibility, 
had an eligibility request approved, or an eligibility evaluation ordered under AS 23.30.041(c), and waived 
reemployment benefits in a settlement or otherwise. 

 

REGULATIONS CONSIDERED “DISCRETIONARY” 

8 AAC 45.032            REPEAL 

8 AAC 45.054 

8 AAC 45.063(b) 

8 AAC 45.071 

8 AAC 45.072 

8 AAC 45.081(a) & (b) 

8 AAC 45.082(a), (d), (e) 

8 AAC 45.084(a), (b), (c), (d) 

8 AAC 45.085             REPEAL 

8 AAC 45.090(a), (b), (c) 

8 AAC 45.095 

8 AAC 45.110(a) & (b)           REPEAL 

8 AAC 45.120(a) [a portion], (b), (c), (d), 
(e)  NOTE:  See fn 70 in Rusch 453 P3 784 

8 AAC 45.130             REPEAL 

8 AAC 45.132             REPEAL 

8 AAC 45.134(b)        REPEAL 

8 AAC 45.142             REPEAL 

8 AAC 45.170             REPEAL 

8 AAC 45.188             REPEAL 

8 AAC 45.900(j)         REPEAL 

  

Although some of the regulations are discretionary, the board has authority to adopt them under AS 
23.30.005 and are necessary and useful for administration of our work.  For example, 8 AAC 45.071 identifies 
those matters a hearing officer can hear as the Commissioner’s designee.  AS 23.30.005(h) says, “The 
department may by regulation provide for procedural, discovery, or stipulated matters to be heard and 
decided by the commissioner or a hearing officer designated to represent the commissioner rather than a 
panel.”   The “may” signifies it is a discretionary regulation.  

024



 
 

Division of Workers’ Compensation 
      |  

SCHEDULE 
Proposed Stakeholder Regulation Reduction Workshops 2025 
9/15/2025 
 

All meetings to be held virtually with written comments accepted by mail or email.  
 

Topics:  
Legal procedures and fees; medical procedures, forms, and fees; indemnity 
benefits and compensation; reemployment and rehabilitation, and Appeals. 

  

October 20, 2025, 
10am to 11am 

Fishermen’s Fund  

Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 55 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85787362251  

In Person at  
3301 Eagle St, Suite 305 

Anchorage, AK 
and Zoom 

October 23, 2025,  
9am to 4pm 

Alaska Workers Compensation Board 

Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 45 
Active Bulletins 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84407872140  

In Person at  
3301 Eagle St, Suite 208 

Anchorage, AK 
and Zoom 

November 6, 2025, 
10am to 11am 

Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals 
Commission  
Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 57 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84988868299  

Zoom 

November 18, 2025, 
10am to 11am 

Procedures before the Board 

Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 45 
Active Bulletins 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81443354151  

Zoom 

December 16, 2025, 
10am to 11am 

Indemnity and Compensation Issues 

Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 45 
Active Bulletins 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87026394377  

Zoom 

025

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85787362251
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84407872140
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84988868299
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81443354151
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87026394377


 
 

Division of Workers’ Compensation 
      |  

Additional Instruction: 
 

To participate by Zoom, please use the appropriate link above.  
To participate by phone, call 833-548-0276 and enter the Webinar ID in the appropriate link 

above. 
 
Additional stakeholder meetings will be scheduled for 2026. Dates TBD. 

026



 
 

Division of Workers’ Compensation 
      |  

SCHEDULE 
Proposed Stakeholder Regulation Reduction Workshops 
10/15/2025 
 

All meetings to be held virtually with written comments accepted by mail or email.  
 

Topics:  
Legal procedures and fees; medical procedures, forms, and fees; Indemnity 
benefits and compensation; reemployment and rehabilitation. 

  

January 8, 2026,  
9am to 4pm 

Alaska Workers Compensation Board 

Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 45 
Active Bulletins 

In Person at 3301 
Eagle ST, Suite 208 

Anchorage, AK 
and Zoom 

January 13, 2026,  
10am to 11am 

Medical Procedures and Forms 

Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 45 
Alaska WC Medical Fee Schedule 

Zoom 

January 27, 2026, 
10am to 11am 

Reemployment and Rehabilitation 

Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 45 
Active Bulletins 

Zoom 

February xx, 2026, 
10am to 11am 

Medical Procedures and Forms 

Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 45 
Alaska WC Medical Fee Schedule 

Zoom 

February xx, 2026, 
10am to 11am 

Workers’ Compensation and You 
 
Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 45 
Workers’ Compensation and you Handbook 

Zoom 

March xx, 2026, 
10am to 11am 

Workers’ Compensation and You 
 
Alaska Administrative Code Chapter 45 
Employers’ Guide to the Workers’ Compensation 
Act 

Zoom 

027



 
 

Division of Workers’ Compensation 
      |  

April 8, 2026, 
10am to 11am 

EDI Work Session 
 
EDI resource Guide 

Zoom 

Additional Instruction: 
All meetings noticed by Online Public Notice.  
Constituent groups to be noticed directly by electronic means. This includes the Alaska Bar, Alaska 
Medical Associations, Chamber of Commerce’s, Registered Labor Union Offices and major employers. 
An enhanced ask for written comments to capture the ideas directly from the source. 
 
  

028



National Council on Compensation Insurance State Relations—Regulatory Services

SEPTEMBER 2, 2025 AK-2025-01
LOSS COSTS OR RATE FILING

Alaska–Voluntary Loss Costs, Assigned Risk Rates, and Rating Values Proposed to Be
Effective January 1, 2026
ACTION
NEEDED

Please review this information before the voluntary loss costs, voluntary rating values, assigned
risk rates, and assigned risk rating values cited in this circular are approved.
In accordance with AS 21.39.043(d), this loss cost filing is subject to an administrative hearing.
Please visit the State of Alaska or Alaska Division of Insurance website for a public notice
providing the details of the hearing.
Keep this filing circular because it will be supplemented but not replaced by an approval
circular upon regulatory approval. This filing circular and the approval circular will provide the
entire package of relevant information for this change.
Caution: When this filing circular was published, these values had been filed with the regulator
but were not yet approved. This information is provided for your convenience and analysis.
Please use the information “as is” and do not rely on the data until the filing has been approved
by the regulator.

BACKGROUND NCCI recently submitted a voluntary loss costs, assigned risk rates, and rating values filing to
the Alaska Division of Insurance. The filing is proposed to be effective January 1, 2026, for
new and renewal policies.
Please note the following in connection with this filing:
• The proposed loss costs, rates, and expected loss rates (ELRs) are calculated to three
decimal places

• As a result of Item R-1424, the Retrospective Rating Plan parameters have been updated

This circular contains the original filing and the detailed calculations and actuarial support. It
is a confidential and proprietary document of NCCI intended for the use of its affiliates, and
for their use only, as licensed by contract. NCCI, on behalf of its affiliates, reserves the right
to limit its unauthorized use or distribution.

IMPACT The filing proposes an average decrease of 3.7% in the voluntary loss cost level and a decrease
of 4.8% in the assigned risk rate level for industrial classes.

NCCI ACTION NCCI will announce in an approval circular that these or some alternative set of values have
been approved by the regulator. We will post the filed voluntary loss costs, assigned risk
rates, and rating values on ncci.com. In addition to this circular, the Individual Classification
Experience Exhibit is available in both a downloadable PDF format and a Microsoft® Excel
spreadsheet on ncci.com. For more information, please contact our Customer Service Center at
800-NCCI-123 (800-622-4123).
NCCI makes no representation or warranty, express or implied, as to any matter including, but
not limited to, an assurance that the regulator will approve the values in this circular.

901 Peninsula Corporate Circle, Boca Raton, FL 33487-1362 2857 AK-2025-01

© 2025 National Council on Compensation Insurance, Inc. All Rights Reserved. ncci.com Page 1 of 2
029



PERSON TO
CONTACT

If you have any questions, please contact: Technical Contact:
Todd Johnson, CPCU, WCP® Brad Rosin, FCAS, MAAA
Senior State Relations Executive Director and Actuary
NCCI NCCI
901 Peninsula Corporate Circle 901 Peninsula Corporate Circle
Boca Raton, Florida 33487-1362 Boca Raton, Florida 33487-1362
971-288-6876 561-893-3029
todd_johnson@ncci.com brad_rosin@ncci.com

901 Peninsula Corporate Circle, Boca Raton, FL 33487-1362 2857 AK-2025-01

© 2025 National Council on Compensation Insurance, Inc. All Rights Reserved. ncci.com Page 2 of 2
030



Lisa Clemens
WC Officer II

Rg 18   PCN 07-3007
ANC      GG

Michele Wall-Rood
Investigator IV

Rg 20    PCN 07-4557
ANC     SU

Janel Wright
Chief of Adj

Rg 25    PCN 07-3005
ANC       XE

Stacy Niwa
RBA

Rg 22 PCN 07-3047
ANC      XE

Christine Christensen
Investigator III

Rg 18  PCN 07-3070
ANC       GG

Malaika Tesson
WC Officer II

Rg 18   PCN 07-3012
ANC       GG

David Price
Investigator III

Rg 18   PCN 07-3068
JNU     GG

Julie Milazzo
Investigator III

Rg 18 PCN 07-3072
ANC       GG

Wayne Harger 
Investigator III

Rg 18   PCN 07-3069
FBKS         GG

VACANT
Investigator II

Rg 16   PCN 07-3064
ANC      GG

VACANT
Office Asst I

Rg 8  PCN 07-3071
ANC       GG

Danielle Kalmakoff
Office Asst I

Rg 8    PCN 07-3010
JNU    GG

VACANT
Office Asst II

Rg 10   PCN 07-3036
FBKS      GG

Aldwyn McCuistion 
Office Asst I

Rg 8    PCN 07-3062
JNU    GG

VACANT
Office Asst II

Rg 10   PCN 07-3014
JNU    GG

VACANT
Office Asst I

Rg 8   PCN 07-3003
JNU     GG

Devin Gross
Office Asst I

Rg 8    PCN 07-1720
JNU    GG

Rochelle Comer
WC Tech

Rg 12   PCN 07-3037
ANC       GG

Darlene Charles
WC Tech

Rg 12   PCN 07-3030
ANC      GG

VACANT
WC Tech

Rg 12   PCN 07-3052
ANC       GG

VACANT
Office Asst II

Rg 10   PCN 07-3011
ANC       GG

Trisha Palmer
WC Tech

Rg 12   PCN 07-3025
ANC       GG

Velma Thomas
Program Coordinator II

Rg 20 PCN 07-1026
JNU     SU

Ted Burkhart
WC Officer I

Rg 16   PCN 07-3046
JNU    GG

Nanette Ferrer
WC Tech - FF

Rg 12   PCN 07-3028
JNU     GG

Acacia
Poulson-Edwards

WC Tech - FF
Rg 12   PCN 07-1027

JNU    GG

Kathryn Setzer
WC Hearing Off II

Rg 24  PCN  07-3061
JNU      GG

VACANT
WC Hearing Off I/II

Rg 22/24   PCN 07-3042
FBKS      GG

Elizabeth Pleitez
WC Officer II

Rg 18   PCN 07-3040
ANC      GG

Robert Vollmer
WC Hearing Off II

Rg 24   PCN 07-3044
FBKS       GG

 Kyle Reding
WC Hearing Off I

Rg 22 PCN 07-3013
ANC      GG

William Soule
WC Hearing Off II

Rg 24   PCN 07-3060
ANC      GG

VACANT
WC Hearing Off I/II

Rg 22/24   PCN 07-3059
ANC      GG

Harvey Pullen
WC Officer II

Rg 18   PCN 07-3027
ANC      GG

VACANT
WC Technician

Rg 12   PCN 07-3063
FBKS     GG

VACANT
WC Hearing Off I

Rg 22   PCN 07-3043
ANC   GG

Rosie Ambrose
WC Tech

Rg 12   PCN 07-7005
ANC      GG

Amanda Johnson
WC Officer II

Rg 18    PCN 07-3058
ANC        SU

Michael Christenson
Project Assistant

Rg 16   PCN 07-5527
JNU   GG

VACANT
Chair, WC Appeals 

Commission
Rg 27     PCN  07-X001

ANC        XE

Kathleen Morrison
Law Office Assistant III   
Rg 14    PCN  07-3067       

ANC      GG

Alexis Hildebrand
Admin Ops Manager
Rg 22    PCN 07-3026

JNU     SU

Charles Collins
Director

 PCN 07-3001
JNU   XE

Carrie Craig
WC Officer I

Rg 16   PCN 07-3056
ANC        GG

VACANT
WC Officer I

Rg 16  PCN 07-3031
ANC      GG

Lorvin Uddipa
WC Tech

Rg 12   PCN 07-3004
JNU    GG

VACANT
WC Officer lI 

Rg 18  PCN 07-3009
JNU   SU

VACANT
WC Officer II

Rg 18   PCN 07-3024
FBKS    SU

Division of Workers' Compensation as of October 1, 2025

Dawn Wilson
Collections Officer 

Rg 16   PCN 21-3047
JNU   GG

VACANT
Student Intern I

Rg 6   PCN 07IN1901
JNU    GG

Marie Dagon
WC Tech - SIU

Rg 12   PCN 07-5872
ANC     GG

Grace Morfield
Program Coordinator 
Rg 20   PCN 07-6023

ANC      GG

Luma Diaz
Admin Assistant II

Rg 14   PCN 07-3055
ANC    GG

031



FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27
REVENUE

Insurer Premium Tax 4,544,123 5,398,947 5,600,176 4,902,503 4,442,776 4,498,567 4,654,752 4,636,345 4,751,615 4,870,110

Self-Insurer Service Fee 2,109,489 2,063,408 1,667,542 1,411,007 1,684,670 1,486,445 1,600,136 1,664,868 1,648,220 1,672,940

WC Penalties 0 147,603 434,225 539,792 306,690 520,436 464,385 339,755 332,960 326,301

Misc 9,789 6,207 7,251 13,228 5,210 1,850 3,385 10,876 10,660 10,447

Revenue Total 6,663,401 7,616,164 7,709,194 6,866,529 6,439,346 6,507,298 6,722,658 6,651,845 6,743,455 6,879,797

EXPENDITURE

Workers' Comp 5,511,057 5,368,923 5,330,051 4,849,491 5,568,015 5,647,670 5,679,968 5,573,382 7,047,300 7,290,100

WC Appeals Commission 301,739 323,041 344,934 330,968 349,341 391,564 373,796 371,610 478,000 480,868

Occupational Safety and Health 2,097,547 1,829,104 1,908,692 2,137,115 1,923,531 157,410 226,803 616,503 713,900 718,183

Labor Market Info 60,779 67,646 101,347 71,403 79,270 83,604 69,946 77,426 141,800 142,651

Expenditure Total 7,971,122 7,588,714 7,685,025 7,388,976 7,920,156 6,280,248 6,350,514 6,638,921 8,381,000 8,631,802

Fund Sweep 2,040,403.1 332,233.6 374,562.3

FUND BALANCE (year end) 4,026,576 4,054,027 4,126,314 3,603,868 82,654 -22,530 -24,947 -12,024 -1,637,545 -1,752,005

6,000,000.00

6,500,000.00

7,000,000.00

7,500,000.00

8,000,000.00

8,500,000.00

9,000,000.00

WSCAA FUND BALANCE

032



 

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26
Pre-Vacancy PS 4,457,075 4,583,084 4,705,099 4,825,401 5,071,747 5,094,259 5,239,580 5,737,198 6,230,750
Actual PS 4,223,999 4,223,012 4,284,821 3,790,661 4,462,759 4,443,638 4,507,761 4,997,120 4,931,811
Vacancy Rate 5% 8% 9% 21% 12% 13% 14% 13% 21%

$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

Vacancy Factor

Pre-Vacancy PS Actual PS Vacancy Rate

033



Department of Labor and Workforce Development

Division of Workers' Compensation 26 PPE: 6/30/2025

Monthly Status Report as of: 9/2/2025 Q4 FY2025 0

26

Summary:
Initial Revised Avail Adjust Revised 9/2/2025 Current Exp Adj Projected Total Projected % Expend

Program Auth Program Auth Needed Budget Expend Encumb Balance Needed Expend Expend Balance To-date

Workers' Compensation 6,651,100 0 0 0 6,651,100 5,573,382 0 1,077,718 0 0 5,573,382 1,077,718 83.8%

WC Appeals Commission 482,400 0 0 0 482,400 371,610 0 110,790 0 0 371,610 110,790 77.0%

WC Benefits Guaranty Fund 794,300 0 0 0 794,300 335,916 0 458,384 0 0 335,916 458,384 42.3%

Second Injury Fund 2,887,700 0 0 0 2,887,700 2,405,477 0 482,223 0 0 2,405,477 482,223 83.3%

Fishermen's Fund 1,449,900 0 0 0 1,449,900 915,982 0 533,918 0 0 915,982 533,918 63.2%

Division Total 12,265,400 0 0 0 12,265,400 9,602,367 0 2,663,033 0 0 9,602,367 2,663,033 78.3%

Program Revenue Initial Revised Avail Adjust Revised
Auth Program Auth Needed Budget

Revenue Type Workers' Safety 7,088,400 0 0 0 7,088,400
Revenue Type General Funds 45,100 0 0 0 45,100
Revenue Type Benefits Guaranty Fund 794,300 0 0 0 794,300
Revenue Type Second Injury Fund 2,887,700 0 0 0 2,887,700
Revenue Type Fishermen's Fund 1,449,900 0 0 0 1,449,900

General Funds

Total Program Funding 12,265,400 0 0 0 12,265,400

Pay Periods   Remaining

Total

Pay Periods processed

FY25 Projection 2025.09.02.xlsx
Division Summary 10/14/2025 1 of 1

034



Department of Labor and Workforce Development

Division of Workers' Compensation 26 PPE: 6/30/2025

Monthly Status Report as of: 9/2/2025 Q4 FY2025 0

26

Workers' Compensation

Program Expenditures Initial Revised Avail Adjust Revised 9/2/2025 Current Exp Adj Projected Total Projected % Expend
Auth Program Auth Needed Budget Expend Encumb Balance Needed Expend Expend Balance To Date

Personal Services 5,409,900.00 -176,643.30 0.00 0.00 5,233,256.70 4,997,120.48 0.00 236,136.22 0.00 0.00 4,997,120.48 236,136.22 95.5%

Travel 75,000.00 -4,600.00 0.00 0.00 70,400.00 35,262.33 0.00 35,137.67 0.00 0.00 35,262.33 35,137.67 50.1%
Services 1,079,800.00 166,243.30 0.00 0.00 1,246,043.30 467,308.21 0.00 778,735.09 0.00 0.00 467,308.21 778,735.09 37.5%
Commodities 74,800.00 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 89,800.00 62,146.10 0.00 27,653.90 0.00 0.00 62,146.10 27,653.90 69.2%
Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

NPS Subtotal 1,229,600.00 176,643.30 0.00 0.00 1,406,243.30 564,716.64 0.00 841,526.66 0.00 0.00 564,716.64 841,526.66 40.2%

Grants 11,600.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 11,600.00 11,545.08 0.00 54.92 0.00 0.00 11,545.08 54.92 99.5%

Total Program Expenditures 6,651,100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,651,100.00 5,573,382.20 0.00 1,077,717.80 0.00 0.00 5,573,382.20 1,077,717.80 83.8%

Program Revenue Initial Revised Avail Adjust Projected
Auth Program Auth Needed Revenue

General Funds 19,800.0 19,800.00

Revenue Type Workers' Safety 6,631,300.00 6,631,300.00

0.00

Total Program Funding 6,651,100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,651,100.00

Pay Periods processed

Pay Periods   Remaining

Total

FY25 Projection 2025.09.02.xlsx
Workers Comp 10/2/2025 1 of 1

035



Department of Labor and Workforce Development

Division of Workers' Compensation 26 PPE: 6/30/2025

Monthly Status Report as of: 9/2/2025 Q4 FY2025 0

26

WC Appeals Commission

Program Expenditures Initial Revised Avail Adjust Revised 9/2/2025 Current Exp Adj Projected Total Projected % Expend
Auth Program Auth Needed Budget Expend Encumb Balance Needed Expend Expend Balance To-date

Personal Services 366,300.00 -1,588.66 0.00 0.00 364,711.34 309,469.66 0.00 55,241.68 0.00 0.00 309,469.66 55,241.68 84.9%

Travel 0.00 700.00 0.00 0.00 700.00 624.55 0.00 75.45 0.00 0.00 624.55 75.45 89.2%
Services 111,100.00 -8,111.34 0.00 0.00 102,988.66 48,880.69 0.00 54,107.97 0.00 0.00 48,880.69 54,107.97 47.5%
Commodities 5,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 0.00 14,000.00 12,635.32 0.00 1,364.68 0.00 0.00 12,635.32 1,364.68 90.3%
Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

NPS Subtotal 116,100.00 1,588.66 0.00 0.00 117,688.66 62,140.56 0.00 55,548.10 0.00 0.00 62,140.56 55,548.10 52.8%

Grants 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total Program Expenditures 482,400.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 482,400.00 371,610.22 0.00 110,789.78 0.00 0.00 371,610.22 110,789.78 77.0%

Program Revenue Initial Revised Avail Adjust Projected
Auth Program Auth Needed Revenue

25,300.0 25,300.0General Funds

Revenue Type Workers' Safety 457,100.00 457,100.00

Total Program Funding 482,400.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 482,400.00

Pay Periods processed

Pay Periods   Remaining

Total

FY25 Projection 2025.09.02.xlsx
Appeals Commission 10/2/2025 1 of 1

036



Department of Labor and Workforce Development

Division of Workers' Compensation 26 PPE: 6/30/2025

Monthly Status Report as of: 9/2/2025 Q4 FY2025 0

26

Benefits Guaranty Fund

Program Expenditures Initial Revised Avail Adjust Revised 9/2/2025 Current Exp Adj Projected Total Projected % Expend
Auth Program Auth Needed Budget Expend Encumb Balance Needed Expend Expend Balance To-date

Personal Services 123,900.00 4,100.00 0.00 0.00 128,000.00 128,576.89 0.00 -576.89 0.00 0.00 128,576.89 -576.89 100.5%

Travel 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Services 235,700.00 -4,100.00 0.00 0.00 231,600.00 73,915.91 0.00 157,684.09 0.00 0.00 73,915.91 157,684.09 31.9%
Commodities 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00 146.00 0.00 1,854.00 0.00 0.00 146.00 1,854.00 7.3%
Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

NPS Subtotal 237,700.00 -4,100.00 0.00 0.00 233,600.00 74,061.91 0.00 159,538.09 0.00 0.00 74,061.91 159,538.09 31.7%

Grants 432,700.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 432,700.00 133,277.23 0.00 299,422.77 0.00 0.00 133,277.23 299,422.77 30.8%

Total Program Expenditures 794,300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 794,300.00 335,916.03 0.00 458,383.97 0.00 0.00 335,916.03 458,383.97 42.3%

Program Revenue Initial Revised Avail Adjust Projected
Auth Program Auth Needed Revenue

0.00 794,300.00

GF Program Receipts

Revenue Type Benefits Guaranty Fund 794,300.00 

Interagency Receipts

General Funds

Total Program Funding 794,300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 794,300.00

Pay Periods processed

Pay Periods   Remaining

Total

FY25 Projection 2025.09.02.xlsx
Benefits Guaranty Fund 10/2/2025 1 of 1

037



Department of Labor and Workforce Development

Division of Workers' Compensation 26 PPE: 6/30/2025

Monthly Status Report as of: 9/2/2025 Q4 FY2025 0

26

Second Injury Fund

Program Expenditures Initial Revised Avail Adjust Revised 9/2/2025 Current Exp Adj Projected Total Projected % Expend
Auth Program Auth Needed Budget Expend Encumb Balance Needed Expend Expend Balance To-date

Personal Services 242,400.00 7,900.00 0.00 0.00 250,300.00 252,030.50 0.00 -1,730.50 0.00 0.00 252,030.50 -1,730.50 100.7%

Travel 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Services 72,700.00 -7,900.00 0.00 0.00 64,800.00 35,494.07 0.00 29,305.93 0.00 0.00 35,494.07 29,305.93 54.8%
Commodities 4,300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,300.00 204.00 0.00 4,096.00 0.00 0.00 204.00 4,096.00 4.7%
Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

NPS Subtotal 77,000.00 -7,900.00 0.00 0.00 69,100.00 35,698.07 0.00 33,401.93 0.00 0.00 35,698.07 33,401.93 51.7%

Grants 2,568,300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,568,300.00 2,117,748.53 0.00 450,551.47 0.00 0.00 2,117,748.53 450,551.47 82.5%

Total Program Expenditures 2,887,700.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,887,700.00 2,405,477.10 0.00 482,222.90 0.00 0.00 2,405,477.10 482,222.90 83.3%

Program Revenue Initial Revised Avail Adjust Revised
Auth Program Auth Needed Budget

GF Program Receipts

Revenue Type Second Injury Fund 2,887,700.00 2,887,700.00

Interagency Receipts

General Funds

Total Program Funding 2,887,700.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,887,700.00

Pay Periods processed

Pay Periods   Remaining

Total

FY25 Projection 2025.09.02.xlsx
2nd Injury Fund 10/2/2025 1 of 1

038



Department of Labor and Workforce Development

Division of Workers' Compensation 26 PPE: 6/30/2025

Monthly Status Report as of: 9/2/2025 Q4 FY2025 0

26

Fishermen's Fund

Program Expenditures Initial Revised Avail Adjust Revised 9/2/2025 Current Exp Adj Projected Total Projected % Expend
Auth Program Auth Needed Budget Expend Encumb Balance Needed Expend Expend Balance To-date

Personal Services 300,600.00 13,200.00 0.00 0.00 313,800.00 287,733.15 0.00 26,066.85 0.00 0.00 287,733.15 26,066.85 91.7%

Travel 58,000.00 -30,500.00 0.00 0.00 27,500.00 13,216.18 0.00 14,283.82 0.00 0.00 13,216.18 14,283.82 48.1%
Services 322,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 322,500.00 236,192.09 0.00 86,307.91 0.00 0.00 236,192.09 86,307.91 73.2%
Commodities 24,100.00 17,300.00 0.00 0.00 41,400.00 7,747.96 0.00 33,652.04 0.00 0.00 7,747.96 33,652.04 18.7%
Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

NPS Subtotal 404,600.00 -13,200.00 0.00 0.00 391,400.00 257,156.23 0.00 134,243.77 0.00 0.00 257,156.23 134,243.77 65.7%

Grants 744,700.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 744,700.00 371,092.15 0.00 373,607.85 0.00 0.00 371,092.15 373,607.85 49.8%

Total Program Expenditures 1,449,900.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,449,900.00 915,981.53 0.00 533,918.47 0.00 0.00 915,981.53 533,918.47 63.2%

Program Revenue Initial Revised Avail Adjust Revised
Auth Program Auth Needed Budget

GF Program Receipts

Revenue Type Fishermen's Fund 1,449,900.00 1,449,900.00

Interagency Receipts

General Funds

Total Program Funding 1,449,900.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,449,900.00

Pay Periods processed

Pay Periods   Remaining

Total

FY25 Projection 2025.09.02.xlsx
Fishermen's Fund 10/2/2025 1 of 1

039



TAB 6 

040



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
1

October 16, 2025

041



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
2

October 16, 2025

Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development

Workers’ Compensation Division

2024 Annual Report

042



• Donate to something good. 

Catherine Muñoz Commissioner 3
October 16, 2025

Kids’ Chance of Alaska believes that 
we can make a significant difference 
in the lives of all children affected 
by a workplace injury by helping 
them pursue and achieve their 
educational goals.

kidschanceak.org

043



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
4

October 16, 2025

2024 Annual Report

Table of Contents

Page 36 – 37Alaska Injury FrequencyPage 5Director's Report

Page 38Time Loss RatePage 6 – 9About the Division

Page 39 – 40Fatality Rate & FatalitiesPage 10Legislation Updates

Page 41 – 42Alaska Direct Written PremiumsPage 11WSCAA Funds Report

Page 45 – 53Benefits Guaranty FundPage 12Vacancy Rate

Page 55 – 61Second Injury FundPage 13 – 18Claims Data

Page 63 – 75Special Investigation UnitPage 20 –32Total Compensation 
Payments

Page 77 – 89Reemployment BenefitsPage 33 – 34Loss Cost Distribution

Page 91 - 98Second Independent Medical EvaluationsPage 35Injuries By Body Part

044



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
5

October 16, 2025

Director’s Report

In 2024, Alaska continued to experience lower workers’ compensation premium costs (8th consecutive year), as a result of fewer claim filings 
and lower loss costs. This decline is expected to continue. According to the National Council on Compensation Insurance (NCCI), for CY 
2024, the net written premium in the voluntary market decreased slightly, and the residual market premium in states serviced by NCCI 
remained approximately the same as 2023 (multistate overview). NCCI and the Alaska Division of Insurance project a decrease to the current 
loss costs for the voluntary market and a decrease to the assigned risk market rates, effective January 1, 2025.

The past year has given us many interesting issues to work on, the loss of some long-time workers’ compensation contributors, interesting 
decisions by the Supreme Court, and funding woes. Through all of this, I am so proud of this team’s accomplishments and the complete 
commitment that the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board and Division staff have exhibited.

With the continued partnership with our industry partners, medical providers, leadership from the Medical Services Review Committee, and 
support from the Commissioner, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board has saved Alaskan employers over $1 billion dollars in costs since 
2015. During the same period, Alaska’s employees enjoyed improved workplace safety and better outcomes from work injuries, with a 54% 
decrease in lost time incidents. 

Challenges remain within Alaska Workers’ Compensation, but our future has never looked brighter, and our people are prepared to meet the 
changes that inevitably will come our way. 

Sincerely,

Charles Collins
Director, Workers’ Compensation Division

045



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
6

October 16, 2025

2024 Annual Report

Workers’ Compensation is a system which requires an employer to 
pay an injured employee’s work-related medical and disability 
benefits. Workers’ Compensation also requires the payment of 
benefits to dependents in the case of work-related death. 

The Workers’ Compensation Division is the agency charged with 
the administration of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act). 
The Act provides for the payment by employers or their insurance 
carriers of medical, disability and reemployment benefits to injured 
workers.

The Division is required to administer the Act in a manner that is 
both fair and efficient in the delivery of benefits to injured workers 
at a reasonable cost to employers (AS 23.30.001).

In addition to its administrative function, the Division also 
houses the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board which hears 
disputes arising between employees and employers or their 
insurance carriers regarding the payment of benefits under the 
Act.

Thank you to the staff at the Workers’ Compensation Division 
for their contributions collecting these important data.

For more information about the workers’ compensation 
process, click the following links:

Workers' Compensation (state.ak.us)

Juneau OfficeFairbanks OfficeAnchorage Office

1111 West 8th St., Room 305
Juneau, AK 99801

Tel: (907) 465-2790
Fax: (907) 465-2797

675 Seventh Ave., Station K
Fairbanks, AK 99701-4531

Tel: (907) 451-2889
Fax: (907) 451-2928

3301 Eagle Street, Suite 304
Anchorage, AK 99503
Tel: (907) 269-4980
Fax: (907) 269-4975

046



• Established under AS 23.30.005

Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
7

October 16, 2025

Made up of 18 members
9 represent industry
9 represent Labor
Broke up into Panels, one from First Judicial District, two from the Second and Forth Judicial District and Five from the 
Third Judicial District. One Panel is detailed at large and can represent any Judicial District.
Panels are normally three members, two Board members and a designated hearing officer.
The AWCB also is responsible for regulation under The Act. 

The AWCB has two committees that annually meet:
Medical Services Review Committee 
Second Independent Medical Evaluation Selection Committee

047



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
8

October 16, 2025

Administrative Services:
•Department Budget
•Procurement
•Research and Analysis

Alaska Workforce 
Investment Board:
• Apprenticeship Training
• Technical and Vocational Program
• State and Federal Grant Funding

AVTEC:
• Alaska’s premier Training Facility
• Career Enhancement
• Employer Designed Training

Employment and Training 
Services:
• Alaska Job Centers
• Unemployment Insurance Benefits
• Connects job seekers and 

employers

Alaska Labor Relations 
Agency
• Conducts employee elections
• Administrates Collective Bargaining 

for public employers
• Adjudicates unfair labor practice 

claims

Labor Standards and Safety
• Mechanical Inspections
• Alaska Occupational Safety and 

Health
• Wage and Hour enforcement

Vocational Rehabilitation
• Disability Determination Services
• Connects employers with 

employees and assists with 
workplace accommodations

• Provides training related to 
individual’s disability

Workers’ Compensation
• Tracks and adjudicates worksite 

injury claims
• Investigates uninsured employers
• Administers the Fisherman’s Fund

Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development

048



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
9

October 16, 2025

Administration:
•Log almost 20,000 reports of injury 
annually
•Track $250m in benefits and services
•Compile and store data from over 60 
years of claims 

Adjudication:
• Publish decisions of formal hearings
• Mediate agreements between parties
• Hold thousands of informal meetings 

for expediency of claims

Reemployment:
• Orders eligibility evaluations
• Approves reemployment plans
• Monitors rehabilitation specialists
• 23.30.043 SAW/RTW

Investigation:
• Investigate and educate employers
• Follow up on fraud claims
• Collaborate with other investigative 

units to keep Alaska workers safe

Workers’ Compensation 
Benefits Guaranty
• Provide for medical and indemnity 

benefits for injured uninsured workers
• Process payments on judgements from 

uninsured employers
• Actively manage the Benefits Guaranty 

Fund

Fisherman’s Fund
• Manage and reimburse commercial 

fisherman’s injury claims
• Actively manage the “Fisherman’s 

Fund”
• Manage the claims database

Self-Insurance Program
• Ensure the self-insured entity meets 

statutory financial criteria
• Perform annual audits on each 

organization
• Collects proper collateral as 

prescribed by statute

Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division

049



Legislation

Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
10

October 16, 2025

SB 147 – Enacted, effective July 11, 2024
Relates to workers compensation reemployment rights and benefits; establishes a workers compensation stay-at-work program; relates to the 
workers compensation benefits guaranty fund; relates to the presumption of compensability for workers compensation claims related to post-traumatic stress disorder; 
relates to the Alaska senior benefits payment program.

HB 60 - Failed
Relates to repealing the Workers Compensation Appeals Commission; relating to decisions and orders of the Workers Compensation Appeals Commission; relating 
to superior court jurisdiction over appeals from Alaska Workers' Compensation Board decisions.

HB 63 – Failed
Relates to repealing the Workers Compensation Appeals Commission; relating to decisions and orders of the Workers Compensation Appeals Commission; relating 
to superior court jurisdiction over appeals from Alaska Workers' Compensation Board decisions.

HB 239 – Failed
Relates to the presumption of compensability for workers’ compensation claims related to post-traumatic stress disorder.

HB 183 – Failed
Relates to the Workers' Compensation Benefits Guaranty fund.

HB 206 – Failed
Relates to workers' compensation reemployment benefits; establishes a workers' compensation stay-at-work program.

HB 376 – Failed
Relates to transportation network and delivery network companies.

050



WSCAA FUND BALANCE

Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
11

October 16, 2025

FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25
REVENUE

Insurer Premium Tax 5,060,941 4,833,256 4,544,123 5,398,947 5,600,176 4,902,503 4,442,776 4,498,567 4,654,752 4,636,345

Self-Insurer Service Fee 2,134,135 2,130,704 2,109,489 2,063,408 1,667,542 1,411,007 1,684,670 1,486,445 1,600,136 1,664,868

WC Penalties 0 0 0 147,603 434,225 539,792 306,690 520,436 464,385 339,755

Misc 8,319 10,268 9,789 6,207 7,251 13,228 5,210 1,850 3,385 10,876

Revenue Total 7,203,395 6,974,228 6,663,401 7,616,164 7,709,194 6,866,529 6,439,346 6,507,298 6,722,658 6,651,845

EXPENDITURE

Workers' Comp 5,522,901 5,360,429 5,511,057 5,368,923 5,330,051 4,849,491 5,568,015 5,647,670 5,679,968 5,573,382

WC Appeals Commission 377,405 251,146 301,739 323,041 344,934 330,968 349,341 391,564 373,796 371,610

Occupational Safety and Health 1,921,533 1,668,808 2,097,547 1,829,104 1,908,692 2,137,115 1,923,531 157,410 226,803 616,503

Labor Market Info 108,115 87,083 60,779 67,646 101,347 71,403 79,270 83,604 69,946 77,426

Expenditure Total 7,945,200 7,377,342 7,971,122 7,588,714 7,685,025 7,388,976 7,920,156 6,280,248 6,350,514 6,638,921

Fund Sweep 2,040,403.1 332,233.6 374,562.3

FUND BALANCE (year end) 5,737,410 5,334,296 4,026,576 4,054,027 4,126,314 3,603,868 82,654 -22,530 -24,947 -12,024

6000000

6500000

7000000

7500000

8000000

8500000

051



Vacancy Rate

Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
12

October 16, 2025

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26
Pre-Vacancy PS 4,457,075 4,583,084 4,705,099 4,825,401 5,071,747 5,094,259 5,239,580 5,737,198 6,230,750
Actual PS 4,223,999 4,223,012 4,284,821 3,790,661 4,462,759 4,443,638 4,507,761 4,997,120 4,931,811
Vacancy Rate 5% 8% 9% 21% 12% 13% 14% 13% 21%

$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

Pre-Vacancy PS Actual PS Vacancy Rate

052



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
13

October 16, 2025

2024 Annual Report
Compensation Benefit Payments053



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
14

October 16, 2025

Analysis of Workers’ Compensation Claims Data

In 2024, there were 16,892 reports of injury 
and occupational illness filed with the 
Workers’ Compensation Division, a 1.42% 
decrease from 17,135 reports filed in 2023.

054



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
15

October 16, 2025

Analysis of Workers’ Compensation Claims Data

Type of Claims FiledCase Distribution by Type

Of the 16,892 case files established in 2024, claim type filings and 
distribution to total claims filed was:

• There were 13,405 "No Time Loss" cases. This was 79% of 
total claims compared to 13,233. It went down 2% from 
2023, when "No Time Loss" cases were 77% of total 
claims. Of the 13,405 "No Time Loss" cases, 3,907 were 
notification only filings.

• There were 3,457 "Time Loss" cases. This was 20.5% of total 
claims compared to 3,867, 22.6% of total claims in 2023.

• There were 30 fatality cases, which was 0.18% of total claims 
filed in 2024. Fatalities were down .02% compared to 35, 
which was 0.20% of total claims in 2023.

055



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
16

October 16, 2025

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission

The Commission hearing data for 2024.

Hearings

• The Commission held 3 hearings, compared to 2 in 2023 and 8 in 
2022.

Oral Arguments on the Merit of Appeals

• The Commission held three oral arguments, compared to 1 in 
2023.

Motion For Stays of Board Orders

• The Commission held zero hearings on a motion for stay.

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board

The board held or processed the following in 2024.

Held

• Prehearings:1,846 compared to 1,204, in 2023 and 1,187 in 2022.

• Hearings: 172 compared to 123 in 2023 and 99 in 2022.

• Mediations: 55 compared to 68 in 2023 and 69 in 2022.

Compromise & Release Agreements –Totaled 408

• Board approved 375 compared to 417 in 2023 and 344 in 2022.

• Board denied 33 compared to 39 in 2023 and 43 in 2022.

Issued

• 79 Decision & Order Decisions, compared to 84 in 2023 and 76 
in 2022.

Analysis of Workers’ Compensation Claims Data
Adjudications

056



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
17

October 16, 2025

Analysis of Workers’ Compensation Claims Data
Adjudications:  Hearings, Mediations & C&R’s History

20242023202220212020Calendar Year

1,846 1,204 1,187 1,204 1,380 Pre Hearings

172 123 99 292 188 Hearings

55 68 69 67 75 Mediations

408 456 387 377 488 
Compromise 
& Releases

057



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
18

October 16, 2025

Analysis of Workers’ Compensation Claims Data
Filed Claims, Controversions, and Petitions

In 2024, there were 625 claims for benefits filed, a 0.3% 
decrease from 627 claims filed in 2023.  

• 591 cases of which 136 cases had more than one filing.

• 34 cases were withdrawn.

There were 807 petitions filed in 2024, a 5.4% decrease from 
853 petitions filed in 2023.  

• 765 cases of which 323 cases had more than one filing.

• 42 cases reflected withdrawn petitions of which 4 cases 
had more than one filing.

There were 3,105 total controversions received in 2024, a 
0.4% decrease from 3,118 in 2023.  

• 2,860 cases of which 711 cases had more than one filing.

• 245 cases reflected withdrawn controversions of which 14 
cases had more than one filing.

058



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
19

October 16, 2025

Financial Reports and Audits

This section of the report provides information from the prior calendar year.
Under Alaska Statute 23.30.155(m), each insurer, providing workers’ compensation coverage in Alaska or their adjuster must file an annual report 
with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board providing number of claims filed, the type of claims filed, total dollars spent on medical, lost wages 
compensation, death benefits, rehabilitation costs and claim litigation costs.  The annual report requirement also applies to self-insured employers 
and uninsured employers. 

Along with the annual report, each insurer, adjuster, self-insured employer, or uninsured employer must submit payment of their Second Injury Fund 
(SIF) contribution and their Workers’ Safety and Compensation Administration Account fee (WSCAA).  These fees fund reimbursements from the 
SIF and help support the Division’s operations.

This report covers activity from:
CY = Calendar Year Period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024.

Notes:
Medical Costs Totals include the following Medical Costs:  Physical Therapy, Chiropractic Fees, Durable Medical expenses, Medical Travel, Employee 
Medical-Legal Costs.  These costs were previously captured in the other category for CY 2014 through CY2017.

PPI benefit type code transferred from 030/530 to 040/540 under EDI Claims R3.1.

Other Costs includes: Unspecified Lump Sum Payment/Settlement, interest, penalty and SIF Contribution Fee.

Annual Reporting of Total Compensation Benefits

059



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
20

October 16, 2025

A total of $213.2 million was paid in workers’ compensation benefits during calendar year 2024 by market-insured employers and self-
insured employers. This is an increase of 6.9 million, up 3.37% from $206.2 million paid in 2023.

Total Compensation Benefits Paid by Alaska Employers

060



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
21

October 16, 2025

% of Cost to 
Total Cost

Amount PaidBenefit Type

57.9%$123,359,430Medical

30.3%$64,493,039Indemnity

3.6%$7,752,817Reemployment

7.4%$15,699,324Legal

0.9%$1,865,899Other*

$213,170,510Total

*Other costs include interest, penalty, and Second Injury Fund contribution.

Total Compensation Benefits Payment Distribution

061



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
22

October 16, 2025

Medical Benefit Payments

In the calendar year 2024, medical 
benefits totaled $123.4 million, an 
0.86% decrease from $$124.4 
million in 2023.  

Medical benefits were 57.9% of 
total benefits paid and 65.67% of 
total loss costs in 2024. This 
compares 57.9% of total benefits 
paid and 68.06% of loss costs in 
2023.    

062



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
23

October 16, 2025

Indemnity Benefit Payments
For calendar year 2024 indemnity benefits 
(TTD, TPD, PPI, PTD & Death Benefits) 
totaled $64.5 million, a 10.42% increase from 
$58.4 million in 2023.

• TTD benefits totaled $36.2 million in 2024, 
a 7% increase from $33.8 million in 2023.

• TPD benefits totaled $1.096 million in 
2024, a 0.45% increase from $1.091 in 
2023.

• PPI benefits totaled $9.8 million in 2024, a 
12.65% increase from $8.7 million in 2023.  

• PTD benefits totaled $10.7 million in 2024, 
a 23.5% increase from $8.7 million in 2023.  

• Death benefits totaled $6.7 million in 2024, 
a 9.48% increase from $6.1 million in 2023. 

063



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
24

October 16, 2025

Indemnity Benefit Payments Distribution – 10 Year Review

064



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
25

October 16, 2025

Legal Benefit Payments
Total legal costs were $15.7 million in 2024 compared to $13.6 million in 2023 and $11.1 million in 2022. Legal costs increased by $2.08 million.

For calendar year 2024, legal expenses 
totaled $15.7 million, up 15.30% from $13.6 
million reported in 2023.

• Employee attorney fees were $5.4 
million, up 1.5 % from $5.3 million in 
2023.

• Employer attorney fees were 9.1 million, 
up 34.3% from $6.7 million in 2023.

• Litigation costs were $1.3 million, down 
20% from 1.6 million in 2023. Litigation 
costs include:

• Total Expert Witness Fees
• Total Court Reporter Fees
• Total Private Investigator Fees

*Some legal costs may have been previously reported under medical-legal claim expenses for employer/claim administrator

065



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
26

October 16, 2025

Legal Benefit Payments
Total legal costs were $15.7 million in 2024 compared to $13.6 million in 2023, and $11.1 million in 2022.

Legal cost represented 7% of total compensation costs.

% of 
Total 
Legal

Payment 
Amount

Legal 
Costs -
2024

34.2%$5,374,125Employee 
Attorney

57.8%$9,069,477Employer 
Attorney

8%$1,255,722Litigation 

$15,699,324Total

066



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
27

October 16, 2025

Reemployment Benefit Payments

Total reemployment benefit payments totaled $7.8 million 
in 2024, an 10% increase from $7.1 million in 2023.

•Rehabilitation benefit costs under AS 23.30.041(k) totaled 
$2.8 million in 2024, a 10.4% decrease from $3.1 million in 
2023.

•Rehabilitation benefit costs under AS 23.30.041(g) totaled 
$2.0 million in 2024, an 62% increase from $1.3 in 2023.

•Employee evaluation costs totaled $1.7 million in 2024, a 
6.0% increase from $1.6 million in 2023.

•Rehabilitation specialist fees/plan monitoring fees totaled 
$684,179 in 2024, a 11.1% increase from $615,759 in 
2023.

•Plan development costs totaled $515,940 in 2024, a 
18.3% increase from $435,966 in 2023.

Note:
•.041(k) captures weekly scheduled payments only.
•.041(g) includes dislocation lump sum payments and .041(k) lump sum payments.

067



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
28

October 16, 2025

Reemployment Benefit Cost Distribution - .041(k) & .041(g)

068



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
29

October 16, 2025

% of Cost 
to Total 

Cost

Total Benefits PdInsurer Type

75.1%$160,034,519Market Insurers

24.8%$52,933,307Self-Insured Employers

0.1%202,684Uninsured Employer Fund

$213,170,510Total

Of the $213.2 million in total benefits paid, market-insured employers paid $160.0 million and self-insured employers paid $52.9 million.  This 
compares to 2023, market-insured employers paid $155.2 million (75.3%) and self-insured employers paid $50.7 million (24.6%).

Total Compensation Benefits Paid by Market Distribution

069



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
30

October 16, 2025

The top twenty insurers and self-insured employers paid $137.4 million, or 64.5% of total workers’ compensation benefits in 2024.  This compares to 
$133.2 million, or 64.6% in 2023 and $130.8 million, or 67.0%, in 2022.

Benefits 
Paid

InsurerRankBenefits PaidInsurerRank

$4,078,569ARCTIC SLOPE REGIONAL CORP11.$       29,530,800ALASKA NATIONAL INS CO1.

$3,951,755ALASKA AIRLINES GROUP12.$       16,582,211STATE OF ALASKA2.

$3,883,643ALASKA MUNICIPAL LEAGUE JOINT INS ASSN13.$        9,276,645AMERICAN ZURICH INSURANCE CO3.

$3,549,620EVEREST NATIONAL INSURANCE CO14.$9,167,749INDEMNITY INS CO OF NORTH AMERICA4.

$3,480,827BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY HOMESTATE INS CO15.$8,551,751UMIALIK INSURANCE CO5.

$3,352,897REPUBLIC INDEMNITY CO OF AMERICA16.$7,109,528MUNICIPALITY OF ANCHORAGE6.

$3,202,348AIU INSURANCE CO17.$6,383,368LM INSURANCE CORP7.

$        3,142,320 OHIO CASUALTY INS CO, The18.$6,326,993ACE AMERICAN INTERSTATE INS CO8.

$3,193,790OLD REPUBLIC INSURANCE CO19.$4,958,285AMERICAN INTERSTATE INSURANCE CO9.

$2,791,896ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE CO20.$4,207,775LIBERTY INSURANCE CORP10.

$137,388,847TOTAL

Total Benefits Paid by Top Twenty Insurers &  Self-Insured Employers

070



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
31

October 16, 2025

Active Alaska Self-Insured Employers

Start Date of  Self-
InsuranceActive Alaska Self-Insured EmployersStart Date of 

Self-Insurance
Active Alaska Self-Insured 

Employers

10/1/1996Fred Meyer Stores, Inc.5/1/1980Alaska Air Group, Inc.

12/31/2017GCI Holdings, LLC7/1/1996Alaska Railroad Corp.

5/1/2005Harnish Group Inc.7/1/1983Alyeska Pipeline Service Co.

2/16/1992
Kenai Peninsula Borough & School
District

6/1/2004Anchorage School District

8/15/2008Matanuska-Susitna Borough6/1/2005Arctic Slope Regional Corp.

7/1/1994Matanuska-Susitna School District2/1/2005Bristol Bay Area Health Corporation

1/1/2004Municipality of Anchorage5/12/1999Chevron Corporation

7/2/2020PeaceHealth Networks1/1/2014Chugach Electric Assn. Inc.

4/1/1995Providence Health System – WA4/1/2004City & Borough of Juneau

11/24/2003State of Alaska9/3/1999Costco Wholesale Corp.

2/1/2004University of Alaska7/1/1977
Fairbanks North Star Borough & 
School District

10/10/1990Federal Express Corp. 

071



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
32

October 16, 2025

Total Benefits Paid by Top Ten Self-Insured Employers
%  To 

Total Benefits
TotalOther (EE 

Penalty, SIF, 
Interest)

Legal ReemploymentDeathIndemnity
(TTD, TPD, 
PPI, PTD)

MedicalSelf-Insured 
Employer

7.8%$16,582,211$228,183$2,103,879$646,427$687,559$5,066,408$7,849,756STATE OF ALASKA

3.3%$7,109,528$60,196$198,263$72,052$174,419$2,202,651$4,401,945MUNICIPALITY OF 
ANCHORAGE

1.9%$4,078,569$43,998$230,469$159,918$35,5491,552,4902,056,144ARCTIC SLOPE REGIONAL 
CORP

1.8%$3,951,755$33,947$235,571$142,446$104,577$1,207,138$2,228,076ALASKA AIRLINES GROUP

1.8%$3,808,398$40,586$344,408$81,515$39,664$1,133,486$2,168,739PROVIDENCE HEALTH 
SERVICES

1.3%$2,780,042$27,327$215,640$70,252$11,950$494,064$1,960,809ANCHORAGE SCHOOL 
DISTRICT

0.8%$1,620,059$15,345$30,152$33,488$                         
-

$395,901$1,145,174UNIVERSITY OF ALASKA

0.7%$1,542,644$2,928$90,835$36,264$                         
-

$128,035$1,284,582FAIRBANKS NORTH STAR 
BORO & SD

0.6%$1,363,111$10,277$55,688$20,287$                         
-

$378,809$898,051CITY & BOROUGH OF 
JUNEAU

0.6%$1,354,706$16,759$42,555$                         -$                         
-

$474,102$821,289KENAI PENINSULA BORO 
& SD

$44,191,023Total

072



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
33

October 16, 2025

Loss Cost Distribution
Total loss costs were $187.9 million in 2024 compared to $182.8 million in 2023 and $173.9 million in 2022.

% 
Change

Total Loss CostsYear

2.74%$187,852,4692024

5.14%$182,842,5842023

4.51%$173,897,7232022

-7.83%$166,396,1792021

-9.49%$180,527,3152020

1.05%$199,464,2022019

-2.56%$197,391,5022018

-4.28%$202,583,5202017

-5.79%$211,644,5872016

1.68%$224,645,0712015

-7.00%$220,938,5612014

“Loss Costs” = medical and indemnity benefit costs only. Indemnity includes TTD, TPD,PPI, PTD and Death benefits.. 

073



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
34

October 16, 2025

Loss Cost Distribution
Indemnity loss costs were $64.5 million in 2024 and 34.33% of total loss costs. This compares to $58.4 million in 2023 and 31.94% of total loss 
costs.

Medical loss costs were $123.4 million in 2024 and 65.67% of total loss costs. This compares to $$124.4 million in 2023 and 68.06% of total loss 
costs.

“Loss Costs” = medical and indemnity benefit costs only. Indemnity includes TTD, TPD,PPI, PTD and Death benefits.. 

074



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
35

October 16, 2025

Top Ten Injuries by Body Part

% *CasesBody Part Injured

8.9%1,509Finger(s)1.

8.0%1,352Knee2.

0.08%1,326Lower Back3.

0.08%1,274Multiple Body Parts (including 
Body Systems & Body Parts)

4.

0.07%1,101Hand5.

0.06%969Shoulder(s)6.

0.04%697Ankle7.

0.04%617Eye(s)8.

0.03%591Soft Tissue9.

0.03%533Foot10.

59% *9,969Total

*Percentage to total injury cases reported in 2024, 16,892

075



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
36

October 16, 2025

Alaska Injury Frequency
Injury 

Frequency 
Rate

Average 
Monthly 

Employment

Reported 
Injuries

Year

5.7298,09316,8922024

5.6307,92617,1352023

6.0298,76217,9562022

5.7289,94616,4702021

5.3281,97614,9852020

5.5308,79617,0752019

5.8306,21117,6942018

6.0312,88618,3962017

6.0316,97918,5552016

6.3323,61919,9092015

5.9321,87418,6862014

In 2024, 16,892 injury cases were reported resulting in an Alaska injury 
frequency rate per 100 employees of 5.7%.

Based on Department of Labor & Workforce Development, Research and 
Analysis Section data of estimated statewide average monthly employment 
totaled 313,630 in 2024, compared to 323,129 in 2023, 313,765 in 2022, and 
305,004 in 2021.

Excluding federal employees, the number of workers covered under the Alaska 
Workers’ Compensation Act in 2024 was approximately 298,093 a decrease of 
3.19% from 307,926 in 2023.

Reports of injuries and average employment less Federal wages decreased in 
2024.

Injury frequency rate = Reported Cases of Injury/ Statewide Average Monthly 
Employment (less Federal wages)*100.

076



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
37

October 16, 2025

Alaska Injury Frequency

077



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
38

October 16, 2025

Time Loss Rate

Rate
Time 
Loss 

Cases

Alaska 
Average 

Employment
Year

1.163,457298,0932024

1.263,867307,9262023

1.554,637298,7622022

1.735,018289,9462021

1.434,037281,9762020

1.133,488308,7962019

1.173,589306,2112018

1.203,670312,8862017

1.193,711316,9792016

2.367,467323,6192015

1.926,046321,8932014

Time Loss Rate Formula: Reported time loss claims divided by the average Alaska wage times 100.

078



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
39

October 16, 2025

Fatality Rate

079



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
40

October 16, 2025

Workplace Fatalities & Workplace Fatalities as a Result of Injury

Each year, a small number of workplace accidents result in the tragic death of workers. The number of workplace fatalities was computed using 
data submitted by trading partners through initial electronic data submissions to the agency.

CountIncident Description
8Fall

5Cardiac arrest

4Passed, not caused by injury

3Found passed away

2Plane Crash

2Struck by Equipment/Vehicle

080



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
41

October 16, 2025

Alaska Direct Written Premiums
Direct Written 

Premiums *
(000s)

Calendar Year

$186,9142024

$187,2692023

$182,5212022

$179,2522021

$196,8132020

$225,9542019

$240,1502018

$251,1102017

$268,0522016

$281,7382015

As mentioned earlier in this report, a decrease in projected premium costs is 
expected for 2025. 

081



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
42

October 16, 2025

Alaska Direct Written Premiums

Under regulatory order no R24-03, on August 15, 2024, the Division of Insurance received and approved the 
2025 Alaska Workers' Compensation filing for Voluntary Loss Costs and Assigned Risk Rates from the National 
Council on Compensation Insurance, Inc. (NCCI), effective November 21, 2024. The filing proposed an overall 
5.5% decrease in voluntary loss costs and an overall 17.6% decrease in assigned risk rates from current 
approved levels.

082



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
43

October 16, 2025

Courtesy of Oregon State, DCBS, Consumer & Business Services

Oregon Workers' Compensation Premium Rate Ranking By State
% of Study 

Median
Index Rate

State
2022 Rank2024 Rank

231%2.52Hawaii21

198%2.16New Jersey12

182%1.98New York43

170%1.86California34

147%1.60Vermont65

135%1.48Connecticut106

130%1.42Wisconsin87

130%1.41Wyoming78

129%1.41Louisiana59

125%1.38Rhode Island1110

123%1.37Maine911

123%1.34Washington2412

123%1.34Illinois1913

122%1.34Montana1514

% of Study 
Median

Index 
Rate

State
2022 Rank2024 Rank

122%1.33Oklahoma1715

120%1.31Missouri1316

114%1.25Minnesota1217

112%1.22New Hampshire1818

110%1.21Iowa1419

106%1.16Alaska2120

105%1.14Pennsylvania2621

103%1.13South Dakota2522

103%1.12Nebraska2923

101%1.11Alabama2024

101%1.10Idaho1625

101%1.09Georgia3126

96%1.05New Mexico2727

96%1.05Colorado4128

083



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
44

October 16, 2025

QUESTIONS?084



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
45

October 16, 2025

2024 Annual Report
Benefits Guaranty Fund

Velma Thomas, Administrator

085



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
46

October 16, 2025

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Benefits Guaranty Fund was established by the Alaska Legislature in 2005 and is 
applicable to injuries occurring on or after November 7, 2005. The Fund was created to assist injured workers who were 
injured while working for an uninsured employer under the authority of AS 23.30.082

Fund revenues come from civil penalties assessed against uninsured employers.

Staffing:
Velma Thomas, Fund Administrator
Dawn Wilson, Collections Officer I

Alaska Workers' Compensation Benefits Guaranty Fund

086



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
47

October 16, 2025

Alaska Workers' Compensation Benefits Guaranty Fund
Claim Data

In FY 2025, there were 8 claims for benefits filed against the fund compared to 8 claim filings in FY 2024. In FY 2025, there were 30 reports of 
uninsured injures this compares to 33 reports of uninsured injuries in FY2024.

087



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
48

October 16, 2025

Alaska Workers' Compensation Benefits Guaranty Fund
Potential Fund Liabilities for Open and Pending Claims

This report reflects potential 
liability for open & pending claims.

1. Fund paying death benefits.

2. Fund paying award for PTD 
benefits.

3. Pending litigation, possible 
award for one claim for PTD.

Closed/ 
Inactive

Potential 
Liability 
(reserve)

Paid by 
Fund

Liability 
(Incurred)

Open/ 
Pending

Total 
Claims 
Filed

Fiscal 
Year

13$219,610$262,390$482,00011420101

32$520,526$887,164$1,407,69013320122

6$7,862$387,852$530,000282020

14$184,963$115,037$300,0001132021

3$100,106$10,894$111,000582022

0$1,092,500$0.00$1,092,5004420233

2$920,673$115,327$1,036,000682024

0$500,024$4,976$505,000882025

70$3,546,264$1,783,640$5,464,190Total

088



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
49

October 16, 2025

Benefits Guaranty Fund
Fund Balance 

% of 
Change

BalanceFiscal 
Year

-39.0%$378,3772025

131.7%$621,1772024

-79.0%$268,0912023

-67.1%$1,277,3632022

7.2%$3,886,0502021

15.9%$3,626,6992020

9.8%$3,130,4382019

8.9%$2,852,2002018

For FYE 2025, fund balance was $378,377.

Decrease for FY 2021, FY 2022, and FY 2023 was $3.1 million, 1.3 million and $268,091, 
respectively attributed to sweeps into the unassigned repayment of the Constitutional Budget 
Reserve Fund (CBRF). There are no provisions to move funds back into designated accounts.089



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
50

October 16, 2025

Benefits Guaranty Fund
Revenues

202520242023Fiscal Year

$338,395$280,211$593,388Civil Penalty - Settlement

$143,500$56,787$104,451Civil Penalty - Stipulation

$24,861$134,724$27,157Civil Penalty – D&O

$30,525$40,200$58,105BGF – Uninsured Employer Reimbursement

$50,313$55,813$77,886Judgments

$587,645$567,735$860,987Sub Total

$617,739$582,782$1,098,130
Total Revenues after line adjustments
(NSF Checks, GeFonsi, Other)

87%83%84%% from Civil Penalties – Before adjustments

5%7%7%
% from Employer Reimbursement – Before 
adjustments

8%10%9%% from Judgments – Before adjustments

FY 2023 Adjustments
• Add supplemental line 

increase of $221,400
• Add GeFonsi $29,450
• Minus NSF Fees $10,807
• Minus Refund $2,674
• Minus Admin Fee $225

FY 2024 Adjustments
• Add GeFonsi $21,617
• Minus Admin Fee $221
• Minus NSF Fees $5,050
• Minus Refund $1,299

FY 2025 Adjustments
• Add GeFonsi $33,467
• Minus NSF Fees $1,150
• Minus Refund $2,223

090



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
51

October 16, 2025

Benefits Guaranty Fund
Revenues

091



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
52

October 16, 2025

Benefits Guaranty Fund
Expenditures

FY 2025FY 2024FY 2023FY 2022Expenditure Detail

12585# of Employees Receiving Benefits

Benefit Payment by Type

$122,377$34,168$293,616$17,264Indemnity Costs

$126,417$28,926$163,728$22,658Medical Costs

$2,250$1,875$14,778$22,237Reemployment Costs

$80,731$0$169,456$0Employee Legal Costs

$372,045$64,969$728,742$62,642Total Employee Benefit Costs

$202,639$181,682$184,739$139,239Administration Costs

$574,684$246,651$830,039$201,881Total Expenditures

65%26%88%31%% of EE Benefit Payments to Total Costs

35%74%22%69%% of Admin. Costs to Total Costs

For FY 2023, 2024, and 2025 total 
expenditures include line adjustment for 
approved line increase and encumbered 
monies.

FY 2023 – Line adjustment of $83,442.

FY 2024 – Encumbered monies to pay 
benefits in FY 2025.

FY 2025 – Paid $239,179 from FY 2024 
encumbered funds.

092



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
53

October 16, 2025

Benefits Guaranty Fund
Expenditures

093



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
54

October 16, 2025

QUESTIONS?094



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
55

October 16, 2025

2024 Annual Report
Second Injury Fund

Velma Thomas, Administrator

095



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
56

October 16, 2025

Second Injury Fund

Established in 1959, the Second Injury Fund is a dedicated fund that provides a system of reimbursement to the employer of a person 
with a qualifying pre-existing condition. The fund was established to remove obstacles to the employment of the disabled. It is meant to 
provide a financial incentive to encourage employers to hire or retain physically impaired workers. The SIF also distributes the risk and 
cost of employing the disabled equally among all employers.

Revenue is collected from each insurer, adjuster, and uninsured employer every March 1st, when they file their annual reports. They must 
pay a percentage of annual compensation payments.

The workers’ compensation reforms passed by the State of Alaska Legislature on May 11, 2018 (SCS CSHB 79(FIN)) 
provided for the closure of the Second Injury Fund. The Department of Labor and Workforce Development shall 
continue to administer the Second Injury Fund and payment of its remaining liabilities.

Authority:AS 23.05.067, AS 23.30.040, 23.30.155, AS 23.30.205 & 8 AAC 45.136

Staffing:
Velma Thomas, Fund Administrator
Ted Burkhart, Workers' Compensation Officer I

096



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
57

October 16, 2025

Second Injury Fund
Claim Data – Open Claims

At the end of FY 2025, there 
were 57 on going claims. Benefits 
were paid on 55 claims. 
 

Settlement Liquidations: 1

097



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
58

October 16, 2025

Second Injury Fund
Fund Balance

% of 
Change

Balance
Fiscal 
Year

-9.9%$5,449,5732025

1.6%$6,048,8762024

2.0%$5,951,0372023

9%$5,833,4302022

5%$5,328,6462021

-11%$5,092,8602020

For FY 2025, fund balance decreased by $599,303, a 9.9% decrease from prior year.

098



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
59

October 16, 2025

Second Injury Fund
Revenues & Expenditures

RevenuesFiscal Year

$1,806,1742025

$1,999,0792024

$2,456,0802023

$2,591,2822022

$2,593,9282021

$2,452,4942020

For FY 2025, expenditures totaled $2,405,477. Expenditures exceeded revenues in the amount of $599,303.
Administration costs totaled $287,729 or 12.0% of total expenditures and Grant payments totaled $2,117,749.

099



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
60

October 16, 2025

Second Injury Fund
Reimbursement Benefits Paid to Employer or Insurer

100



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
61

October 16, 2025

Second Injury Fund
Reimbursement Benefits Paid to Employer or Insurer

Top Ten and Type

AmountInsurer/Self-InsurerRank

$395,426Commerce & Industry1

$386,012State of Alaska2

$141,647Municipality of Anchorage3

$132,100Alaska Timber Ins 
Exchange

4

$130,126Ace American5

$130,000Indemnity Ins Co of NA6

$120,192Alaska National7

$84,454Arctic Slope Regional 
Corp

8

$65,705National Union Fire Ins9

$59,155Industrial Ind – AIGA10

For FY 2025, top ten reimbursement payments totaled 
$1.6 million.

%AmountType#

59%$1,253,099Market Insurers15

41%$864,650
Self-Insured 
Employers

11

$2,117,749Total26

101



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
62

October 16, 2025

QUESTIONS?102



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
63

October 16, 2025

2024 Annual Report
Special Investigation Unit

Michele Wall-Rood, Chief Investigator

103



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
64

October 16, 2025

Special Investigation Unit

• Established by Alaska Legislature in 2005 – AS 23.30.280

• Part of Overall Division Budget

• Staffing:  
Michele Wall-Rood, Chief Inv. – Anchorage (10/2021)
Christine Christensen, Inv. 3 – Anchorage (10/2007)
Wayne Harger, Inv. 3 – Fairbanks (4/2011)
Dave Price, Inv. 3 – Juneau (3/2014)
Julie Milazzo, Inv. 3 – Anchorage (2/2022)
Vacant, Inv. 2 (7/2024)
Marie Dagon, WC Technician – Anchorage (4/2024)

104



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
65

October 16, 2025

Mission and Core Values
• SIU – Dedicated, Responsible, Diligent, and Resilient

• Mission Statement:  The SIU is dedicated to enforcing compliance with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  
The SIU conducts thorough and fair fraud investigations, holds violators accountable, and strives to prevent 
uninsured injuries through proactive public education.

• Core Values:    
o Integrity – We act with honesty, honor, impartiality, fairness, and transparency.  We never compromise the 

truth.
o Respect – We treat others with dignity and compassion.  We operate in the spirit of cooperation with our 

fellow team members, our colleagues inside and outside the state, and our community.  We embrace diversity 
and each other’s unique talents.

o Dedication/Commitment – We serve the people of Alaska by going above and beyond while staying within 
the scope of our own division duties and program boundaries. 

o Accountability – We are each responsible for our words, our actions, and our results.  We pursue 
excellence.  

o Family –We support each other in creating an exceptional work environment and encourage a healthy 
work-life balance.

105



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
66

October 16, 2025

Challenges

• Criminal Fraud Prosecution 
• Employers without Records 
• Legal Opinions 
• Tech Support (ICERS)
• Proactive Outreach 
• Caseloads 
• Staffing (Quantity, not Quality)
• Recruiting Issues

106



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
67

October 16, 2025

Achievements

• 99 Settlements, Six Decisions & Orders

• Continued Multi-Agency Collaboration 
o Financial Crimes Task Force, Environmental Crimes Task Force
o Local and State Law Enforcement Agencies
o Labor Standards & Safety (AKOSH, Wage &Hour)
o Trainings held for Homeland Security Investigations, Wage and Hour, 

DHSS Assisted Living Home Orientations, and the 42nd Annual 
Governor’s Safety Conference 

o 158 Onsite Visits to Businesses

• 599 FTI Investigations worked – 424 Opened/465 Closed

107



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
68

October 16, 2025

Fraud Hotline and Email Tips
YTD 1st Quarter 

FY2026

(7/1/2025 - 9/30/2025)

FY2025FY2024FY2023

50126105152Total Fraud Tip Calls and Emails

6151619Claimant/Injured Worker Tips

21262573Employer Tips

0302Care Providers

0011Attorneys/Non-Attorney Reps

1063Insurance Companies/Agents

0000Fish Fund Claimants

22815752Law Enforcement Agency Assist Requests

0102Other/Non-Related 

108



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
69

October 16, 2025

Failure to Insure Fraud Investigations
Year-to-Date 

First Quarter FY2026 
FY2025FY2024FY2023ACTIVITY

140175107105Pending Cases Carried Forward

111424380388New Cases Opened
129465313386Cases Closed
251599487493Total Cases Worked
179895114Petitions
12139124125Pre-Hearings Attended
950426420  307 Compliance Reviews

(Combined above)615042002359Compliance Checks 
68363332259Public Inquiries
1654Formal Hearings
0051Stop Work Orders 
19633744Warning Letters 
67277197205Investigation Only
187858112Settlements Paid in Full
42133Settlements with Payment Plans

71% (91 of 129)81% (378 of 465)77.036% (242 of 313)83% (321 of 386)Percentage Closed in 6 Months
$365,951.48$915,655.51$924,922.74$1,081,037.96Total Penalties
$71,487.66$145,549.90$74,326.70$183,697.40Total Discounts
$110,012.55$159,576.42$284,222.71$279,988.72Total Suspensions
$184,451.27$610,529.19$566,373.33$617.351.84Total Payable

2303311Uninsured Injuries
13371724Interagency Referrals

109



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
70

October 16, 2025

Failure to Insure FY2025

Ordered 
to Pay

SuspendedDiscountedTotal AssessedAssessed By

FY2025

$610,529.19$159,576.42$145,549.90$915,655.5199 Settlements
(21 with payment plans)

$70,620.61$10,693.96n/a$81,314.576 Decisions & 
Orders
(All Final)

$681,149.80$170,270.38$145,549.90$996,970.08TOTALS

Employers With 
Uninsured Injuries 

Petitioned

Uninsured 
Injuries 

Confirmed

Uninsured Injury 
Referrals Received

Investigations 
Closed

Investigations
Opened/Re-Opened

2830465424

110



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
71

October 16, 2025

Industry Data for FTI Investigations

143

311

13
1

95

20
8

2 0 1
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Corporations LLCs Partnerships Limited
Partnerships

Sole
Proprietors

Non Profits Local
Governments

Tribes Villages Other

Entity Types

111



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
72

October 16, 2025

Industry Data for FTI Investigations

5

45

21

117

49

21

16

15

18

3

44

6

58

58

17

9

91

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

Agriculture

Assisted Living/ Home Care

Arts/Ent/ Recreation

Construction & Handyman

Fishing/ Hunting

General Services

Marijuana

Massage/ Salon

Medical/ Dental/ Health

Mining

Professional Services

Real Estate/ Rent/ Lease

Restaurant/  Lodging

Retail/ Wholesale

Transportation and Delivery

Utilities/ Pub Admin

Other

Represented Industries 

112



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
73

October 16, 2025

Industry Data for FTI Investigations

43

4

7

102

149

124

42

6

4

3

103

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160

Audit Failure

Broker/Insurer Error

Delayed Policy Reporting

Expired/Non-Renewed

Never Insured

Nonpayment of Premium

Underwriter Cancelled

No Longer in Business

No More Employees

Multiple Reasons

Other

Lapse Reasons

113



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
74

October 16, 2025

Industry Data for FTI Investigations

Misclassified Employees
11%

Repeat Offenders
12%

Debarment Referrals
0%

Other
77%

Misclassified/Repeat Offenders/Debarment Referrals

Misclassified Employees Repeat Offenders Debarment Referrals Other

114



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
75

October 16, 2025

Current Goals/Priorities

• Staffing Level Commensurate with Workload  

• Target Realistic Six-Month Case Resolution Percentage

• Continued Collaborative and Multiple-Agency Joint Investigations

• Targeted, Proactive, and Collaborative Engagement with other Agencies and 
Employers

115



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
76

October 16, 2025

QUESTIONS?116



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
77

October 16, 2025

2024 Annual Report
Reemployment Benefits

Stacy Niwa, Administrator

117



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
78

October 16, 2025

Reemployment Benefits Section

• Provides information about reemployment benefits

• Notifies employees of their reemployment benefits rights

• Processes requests for, and stipulations to, eligibility evaluations

• Makes eligibility determinations after review of rehabilitation specialist 
recommendations

• Processes and serves employee elections of reemployment benefits or job 
dislocation benefits

• Processes assignment of eligible employees to rehabilitation specialists for plan 
development

• Reviews reemployment benefits plans upon request

118



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
79

October 16, 2025

2024 By the Numbers

• 636 injured workers were referred for evaluations for eligibility  for 
reemployment benefits.

• 1368 eligibility evaluation reports were reviewed.

• 244 suspension letters were issued.

• 626 eligibility determinations were made.  

• 72 injured workers were found eligible for reemployment benefits. 

• 35 injured workers elected to receive a job dislocation benefit.

119



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
80

October 16, 2025

• 40 elected to pursue reemployment benefits.

• 27 reemployment plans were submitted. 

• 8 plans were signed by all parties and moved forward as agreed upon plans.

• 1 plan review was completed.

• 9 informal rehabilitation conferences were held to assist the parties in moving 
forward with reemployment benefits.

• 5 injured workers completed reemployment plans - start dates of completed 
plans range from 10/04/2021 – 01/16/2023.

120



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
81

October 16, 2025

438

73

30 35
21

7

498

67

12

38
14 6

601

73

25
40

4 9

636

72

35 40

8 5
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Evaluation Referrals Injured Workers Found Eligible Injured Workers Electing Job Dislocation Injured Workers Electing Plan Plans Approved Plans Completed

2021 2022 2023 2024

121



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
82

October 16, 2025

Reemployment Benefit Plans:

• 94 injured workers were in the plan process at some point during 2024.

• 36 injured workers were referred for plan development in 2024.

• 23 injured workers exited the process through a Compromise and Release after 
plan referral and before plan completion.

• 8 injured workers were in an approved plan at year end.

• 28 injured workers were in plan development, and 16 plans were pending 
approval at year end.

• 5 injured workers successfully completed plans with an average plan length of 
24 months from plan approval to plan completion. 

122



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
83

October 16, 2025

• 95 plans were stalled or exited for various reasons:

• Pending approval by the parties

• Medical suspension

• Compromise and Release agreement

• Non-participation of the injured worker

• Change election to job dislocation benefit

• Employee passed away

• D&O or stipulation

• Rehabilitation specialist unable to develop plan that meets stat/regs

123



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
84

October 16, 2025

Outcomes for Workers Completing Plans

• The Reemployment Benefits Section attempted to contact 20 injured workers 
that had completed plans between 2022 and 2024.  

• 14 injured workers responded.

• 11 injured workers had returned to the workforce.

• 3 injured workers reported they had not returned to work:  

• 1 - medically disabled
• 1 - continuing education
• 1 - retired

124



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
85

October 16, 2025

Reemployment Benefit Costs
202420232022

$1,745,174$1,646,132$1,394,704Evaluation Costs

$684,179$615,758$581,264
Reemployment Specialist Plan Fees

$515,940$435,966$359,799Plan Costs

$2,763,301$3,083,339$2,479,056Wage Benefits
(AS 23.30.041(k))

$2,044,222$1,264,092$1,674,193Job Dislocation Benefits (AS 
23.30.041(g))

$7,752,817$7,045,287$6,489,016TOTALS

9.56%8.22%19.07%% Change

125



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
86

October 16, 2025

Impact of settlements on reemployment benefits in 2024:

• 131 injured workers exited the reemployment benefits process through 
Compromise and Release agreements during the reemployment benefits 
process.

• 30 injured workers had funds designated for reemployment benefits included in 
settlements approved in 2024, increasing reemployment benefit costs. 

• 79 injured workers exited the reemployment process through a settlement after 
a determination of eligibility, significantly reducing the number of injured 
workers available for plan completion. 

126



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
87

October 16, 2025

Alaska Rehabilitation Specialist Performance - Reemployment Benefit Eligibility 
Evaluations:

• 13 Alaska Rehabilitation Specialists accepted 478 referrals for eligibility evaluations; 158 
evaluations were referred to 35 specialists out of state.

• For Alaska Based Specialists:

• 449 or 94% of the first reports were submitted within 60 days of the referral. 

• 264 or 58% of the evaluations were completed on the first report submission.

• 210 reports did not meet statutory/regulatory requirements.

• Continued improvements in our process are being made to ensure work complies with 
statutory and regulatory requirements through suspension letters, discussions, plans of 
correction and disqualification from providing services under AS 23.30.041.

127



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
88

October 16, 2025

Median # days 
to 

determination

# reports not 
meeting statute 

or regulation

% of 1st reports 
received in 60 

days

% of late 1st

reports

% complete on 
1st report or 

w/o suspension 
letter

Average # days 
to 1st report

# of Referrals 
received

Rehabilitation 
Specialist

7635100%11%50%2918J. Cranston

604100%26%70%3727K. Davis

351100%10%88%3249J. Doerner

300100%2%69%2948R. Hoover

31998%9%77%3247T. Hutto

3012100%0%84%2551S. Krier

669698%4%62%2950D. LaBrosse

611098%24%90%4649N. Peterson

128



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
89

October 16, 2025

Median # days 
to 

determination

# reports not 
meeting statute 

or regulation

% of 1st reports 
received in 60 

days

% of late 1st

reports

% complete on 
1st report or 

w/o suspension 
letter

Average # days 
to 1st report

# of Referrals 
received

Rehabilitation 
Specialist

45171%33%96%5645C. Robbins

47483%33%66%526F. Sakata

270100%0%83%2424J. Shipman

8229100%0%46%2937N. Silta

51374%39%91%4823P. Vargas

129



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
90

October 16, 2025

QUESTIONS?130



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
91

October 16, 2025

2024 Annual Report

Second Independent Medical Evaluations
SIME

Carrie Craig, Workers' Compensation Officer I

131



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
92

October 16, 2025

• Panel Members:
• Adam Franklin, Employee Attorney

• Robert Bredesen, Employee Attorney

• Jeffrey Holloway, Employer Attorney

• Rebecca Holdiman Miller, Employer Attorney

• Division Support Staff:
• Janel Wright, Chief of Adjudications

• Alexis Hildebrand,  Administrative Operations Manager

• Luma Diaz,  Administrative Assistant II

• Carrie Craig, Workers’ Compensation Officer I

132



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
93

October 16, 2025

2025 SIME Selection Panel Decisions per 8 AAC 45.092(b)(6):

2022 SIME Physicians NOT Re-Selected

• Lucas W. Campos, MD Anesthesiology & Pain Medicine Purab Viswanath, MD Orthopedic Surgery

• Adam Brooks, MD Orthopedic Surgery Rachyll Dempsey, PsyD Psychology & Neuropsychology

• Rina Jain, MD Orthopedic Surgery Jeffrey Brent, MD, PhD Toxicology

• Ardalan Alen Nourian Orthopedic Surgery

2022 SIME Physicians Re-Selected,:

• Benjamin Simon, MD Internal Medicine – Cardiology Andrew Berman, MD Otolaryngology

• Vincente R Bernabe, DO Orthopedic Surgery

2022 SIME Physicians Considered for Removal by a Majority Vote, per 8 AAC 45.092(b)(6)(A):

• None

133



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
94

October 16, 2025

2025 SIME Selection Panel Decisions per 8 AAC 45.092(b)(5)::
NEW SIME Physicians Selected by a Majority Vote:

• Dean Rider, MD Internal Medicine - Gastroenterology

• Ravinder Bajwa, MD Internal Medicine - Pulmonology

• Omar Tirmizi, MD Internal Medicine – Pulmonology

• Martina Ziegenbein, MD Internal Medicine - Rheumatology

• Khaled A.  Anees, MD Neurology

• Yolanta Petrofsky, MD Occupational Medicine

• Andrew Calman, MD, PhD Ophthalmology

• Amy J. Jain, MD Ophthalmology

• John Shuster, MD Orthopedic Surgery

• Jason Phillips, MD Urology

134



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
95

October 16, 2025

2025 SIME Physician Non-Renewals:

The panel members did not suggest any SIME physicians be considered 
for removal by a majority vote. 

135



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
96

October 16, 2025

Cardiology
1%

Dental
1%

Dermatology
1%

Gastroenterology
1%

Hematology
1%

Infectious Disease
1%

Internal Medicine
4%

Neurology
9%

Neuropsychology
5%

10 Neurosurgery
7%

Ophthalmology
1%

Orthopedic
55%

Physical Medicine & 
Rehabilitation 

6%

Physiatry
3%

Psychology
2%

Pulmonology
2%

Rheumatology
1%

Cardiology

Dental

Dermatology

Gastroenterology

Hematology

Infectious Disease

Internal Medicine

Neurology

Neuropsychology

10 Neurosurgery

Ophthalmology

Orthopedic

Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation

Physiatry

Psychology

Pulmonology

Rheumatology

136



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
97

October 16, 2025

SIME Totals and Methods: 10 Year Comparison:

11/1/2015 -
10/31/2016

11/1/2016 -
10/31/2017

11/1/2017 -
10/31/2018

11/1/2018 -
10/31/2019

11/1/2019 -
10/31/2020

11/1/2020 -
10/31/2021

11/1/2021 -
10/31/2022

11/1/2022 -
10/31/2023

11/1/2023 -
10/31/2024

11/1/2024 -
10/31/2025

Telemedicine 0 0 0 0 2 7 1 3 0 2
Record Review 3 2 3 1 4 6 1 1 0 3
In Person 174 183 200 137 48 52 145 109 121 137

0

50

100

150

200

250
In Person Record Review Telemedicine

137



California: 55
Colorado: 2
Hawaii: 17
Illinois: 3
Iowa (off-list): 1
Massachusetts: 1
Michigan: 7
Oregon: 3
Pennsylvania: 4
Washington: 5

SIME Trips Completed (and pending): 98

Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
98

October 16, 2025

SIME Locations 11/1/24 – 10/31/25:

138



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
99

October 16, 2025

QUESTIONS?139



Catherine Muñoz Commissioner
100

October 16, 2025

Cathy Muñoz, Commissioner
Email: Commissioner.Labor@alaska.gov
Phone: (907) 465-2702

Charles Collins, Director
Email: Charles.Collins@alaska.gov
Phone: (907) 465-6060

140



TAB 7 

141



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
BOARD DECISIONS 
 
Discovery 

Nie v. Peter Pan Seafood Co., AWCB Dec. No 25-0030 (April 30, 2025)………………… 

Dismissal 

Garoutte v. State, AWCB Dec. No. 25-0027 (April 18, 2025)……………………………. 

Foreman v. Northstar Construction Mgmt., AWCB Dec. No 25-0041 (July 11, 2025)….. 

Law of the case 

Hernandez v. Ocean Beauty Seafoods, AWCB Dec. No. 25-0036 (June13 2025)……….. 

Offsets 

Martino v. Alaska Asphalt Serv., LLC, AWCB Dec. No. 25-0048 (August 8, 2025)……..  

Reemployment benefits 

Carey v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Dec. No. 25-0034 (May 22, 2025)……….. 

 

COMMISSION DECISION 
 
Dismissal 

McDonald v. Rock and Dirt Env’t. Inc., AWCAC Dec. No. 310 (May 14, 2025)………….. 

 
ALASKA SUPREME COURT DECISIONS 
 
Attorney fees 

Rusch v. SEARHC, 563 P.3d 2 (Alaska 2025)……………………………………………….. 

Insurance coverage 

Travelers v. Keluco General Contractors, Inc., 572 P.3d 537 (Alaska 2025)……………….. 

Procedures 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, Slip Op. S-18740 (September 19, 2025)..................... 

142



Nie v. Peter Pan Seafood Co., AWCB Dec. No. 25-0030 (April 30, 2025). 
 

 

Board Panel:   William Soule, Sara Faulkner 

 

Representatives:  Johnny Nie for Employee  

       Jeffrey Holloway for Employer 

 

Issues:  

 

1) Shall the Board designee’s discovery order be affirmed? 

2) Shall the Board designee remain the prehearing officer in this case? 

3) Does Employee’s “Affidavit of Fact” allow him to fine Employer $3,000,000 “per alleged 

violation,” punish them for “treason,” seize their assets, or expel them from North America? 

 

Results: 

 

1) No, in part, but otherwise yes. 

2) Yes. 

3) No. 

 

Discussion: 

 

Employee submitted a “lengthy letter,” also described as an “Affidavit of Fact,” to Employer, 

accusing it of crimes and asserting rights he does not have.  Employer treated this letter as a 

discovery request.  It contended that once Employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing 

(ARH), he was no longer entitled to discovery.  After reading the “lengthy letter” and both sides’ 

arguments, the Board’s designee denied Employee’s discovery requests and issued a protective 

order for Employer.  Employee appealed the discovery order. 

 

Employee also contended that the Board’s designee “deceptively” portrayed him “in a poor light” 

in his prehearing conference discovery order, committed multiple ethical violations, and ultimately 

committed “a felony” against him.  As such, Employee requested that the designee be removed as 

the prehearing officer on his case. 

 

Finally, Employee’s “Affidavit of Fact” alleged he had many rights not granted under the U.S. 

Constitution or the Alaska Constitution, including the ability to fine Employer $3,000,000 “per 

alleged violation” of a peculiar ruleset stated in his affidavit, punish Employer for “treason,” seize 

its assets, and expel it from North America.  Notably, the “affidavit of fact” stated that if his 

affidavit was unrebutted, it would “stand as truth.” 

 

1) The Board stated that for information to be discoverable, it must be “reasonably calculated” to 

lead to admissible facts that will tend to make a dispute in his claims more or less likely.  

Additionally, it noted that workers’ compensation cases favor liberal discovery, more so than 

discovery in a formal civil action.  Most of Employee’s discovery requests were not “reasonably 

calculated” to help his case, and were therefore denied.  However, some of Employee’s discovery 

requests could have led to evidence supporting an AS 23.30.250(a) fraud claim, and therefore the 

Board found that Employee had a right to such information.  Addressing Employer’s argument 

about ARH filing, the Board held that a party that files an ARH does not waive further discovery, 

143



 

 

as that would contravene both legislative intent and policy behind ARHs.  As such, the Board 

reversed in part, but mostly affirmed, the Board designee’s discovery order. 

 

2) The Board held that the Board’s designee was correct when he summarized Employee’s case in 

a prehearing conference summary but left out details.  This is because Employee did not specify 

which missing portions affected his discovery order, and the Board could not discern any.  

Regarding possible crimes or ethical violations, it noted that as an employee for the State of Alaska, 

the Board’s designee was bound under the Alaska Executive Branch Ethics Act (AEBEA).  As 

Employee did not provide any evidence substantiating his claims, the Board found the designee 

did not violate any aspect of the AEBEA or commit any crime against Employee.  Therefore, it 

held that the Board’s designee would remain the prehearing officer for Employee’s case. 

 

3) The Board found Employee did not have the rights his “Affidavit of Fact” alleged he had.  In 

discovery disputes, Employee’s affidavit was “considered but is not binding.” 

144



Garoutte v. State of Alaska, AWCB Dec. No. 25-0027 (April 18, 2025). 
 

 

Board Panel:   William Soule, Sara Faulkner, Brian Zematis 

 

Representatives:  Yolanda Garoutte for Employee  

       Justin Tapp for Employer 

 

Issues:  

1) Should Employee’s claim be barred under §105(a)? 

2) Should Employee’s claim be denied under §110(c)? 

Results: 

1) No. 

2) No. 

Discussion: 

Employee suffered left-ear hearing loss.  Employer contended Employee failed to file her claim 

timely.  It argued that under Alaska Supreme Court precedent, her claim for permanent partial 

impairment (PPI) and medical benefits comes under the same statute of limitations, just as other 

benefits.  Employer sought an order barring Employee’s claim under AS 23.30.105(a).  Employee 

stated her “claim” had been denied, and an adjuster told her she had no proof that her deafness 

arose out of her exposure at work.  As such, she never contacted the Division for years after her 

incident because she did not think she could do anything about her alleged injury. 

 

Employer also contended that Employee failed to request a hearing, or request more time to request 

one, timely within the two years after Employer controverted her claim.  It sought an order denying 

her claim under AS 23.30.110(c).  Employee conceded she never requested a hearing, nor more 

time to ask for one, because she felt she would lose due to lack of proof of causation. 

 

1) The Board held that Employee’s claim for PPI benefits would be barred under §.105(a), but not 

her claim for unfair for frivolous controversion, nor her claim for medical benefits.  Her claim for 

PPI benefits was barred because even accounting for the latest possible time §.105(a) could have 

started to run, she still filed her claim late.  The Board found the most reasonable time for §.105(a) 

to begin running was August 15, 2018.  This was when she began to notice her left-ear deafness, 

and as a medical professional should have recognized the “nature, seriousness, and probable 

compensable character” of her injury.  Applying 8 AAC 45.063(a), the proper day that §.105(a) 

began running was one day later, August 16, 2018.  Even being as generous as possible, using the 

day she finally stopped curative treatment and implicitly accepted her impairment as “permanent,” 

§.105(a) began running on March 8, 2019.  Employee filed her claim March 29, 2022, far past the 

two-year deadline for any of those dates.  Therefore, her PPI claim was barred under §.105(a).  

However, the Board held that an unfair and frivolous controversion was not an “indemnity 

benefit,” and following Murphy, §.105(a) does not apply to non-indemnity benefits.  Also 

following Murphy, the Board held that §.105(a) expressly did not apply to medical benefits. 

 

2) The Board held Employee’s claim should not be denied under §.110(c), as under current 

Commission standards, Employee was not given proper notice.  Current notice requirements 

require the Board’s designee at a prehearing conference to both advise the pro se claimant how to 

145



 

 

calculate the §.110(c) client, and provide the actual date by which they must request a hearing to 

preserve the claim.  Because Employee did not receive this, and she credibly testified she would 

have requested a hearing, or more time to request one if she had been advised, her claim was not 

denied under §.110(c).  Instead, the Board granted her 90 days to request a hearing on her claims. 

 

Note that according to the Division’s file, Employee never requested a hearing on her claim. 

146



Foreman v. Northstar Constr. Mgmt., AWCB Dec. No. 25-0041 (July 11, 2025). 
 

 

Board Panel:   William Soule, Sarah Lefebrve, John Corbett 

 

Representatives:  Rickie Foreman for Employee  

       Brian Weinstock for Employer 

 

Issue:  

 

Shall Employee’s Alaska claim be dismissed under forum non conveniens? 

 

Result: 

 

Yes. 

 

Discussion: 

 

Employee was allegedly injured while working in Alaska.  He then moved back to Missouri, where 

he pursued a workers’ compensation claim in Missouri; he subsequently filed another claim in 

Alaska and pursued both concurrently.  Employee contended that he had the right to pursue 

“concurrent claims,” but his Alaska case citations were apparently AI generated, and did not exist 

anywhere else other than in his briefing.  Employer filed a petition contending that Employee’s 

Alaska claim should be dismissed due to Alaska being an inconvenient forum. 

 

Employer made a number of contentions, including: Employee was “forum-shopping”; filing a 

claim in Alaska was inconvenient for all parties and witnesses; it would result in “unnecessary and 

unreasonable costs and expenses”; Employee chose Alaska to harass Employer; and Employee’s 

domiciliary-forum choice should be considered “presumptively correct,” as he filed his Missouri 

claim before his Alaska claim, and filed it while he was domiciled in Missouri. 

 

The Board noted that the issue at hand was not who had proper jurisdiction (as both states did, and 

that was not contested by either party), but whether the Board should, in its discretion, withhold 

exercising jurisdiction in this matter and defer to Missouri.  The Board found that the presumption 

of compensability did not apply to the improper forum petition because the petition raised a legal 

issue, not a factual one, and the relevant facts were undisputed. 

 

The Board found that Employee’s cited case law was either AI-generated or irrelevant, or the real 

caselaw he cited was against his position.  In contrast, Employer cited an Alaska decision Crowson, 

and relied on its five factors that a court should consider when declining to exercise jurisdiction in 

a forum non conveniens case: 

 

1) Access to proof; 

2)  Availability and cost to obtain witnesses; 

3) The possibility a forum was chosen to harass an opposing party; 

4) Judgment enforceability; 

5) The community’s burden from litigating matters with which it is not concerned. 

 

147



 

 

The Board found that all Crowson factors weighed heavily in Employer’s favor, and that the Alaska 

Workers’ Compensation Act’s goals of ensuring “quick, efficient, fair, and predictable” delivery of 

benefits at a reasonable cost to Employer favored dismissing the Alaska case, especially since 

Employee was simultaneously pursuing a remedy in Missouri.  As such, the Board dismissed 

Employee’s Alaska claim under forum non conveniens. 

 

Employee has appealed this decision to the Commission. 

148



Hernandez v. Ocean Beauty Seafoods, AWCB Dec. No. 25-0036 (June 13, 2025). 
 

Board Panel:    William Soule, Anthony Ladd, Debbie White 

 

Representatives:   Manuel Hernandez for Employee 

        Justin Eppler for himself on a fee claim 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issues:  

1)  Are non-remanded issues in Hernandez VI “the law of the case” on remand? 

2)  Is the work injury the substantial cause of any disability or need to treat Employee’s 

“chronic pain,” “anxiety or panic attacks,” “generalized anxiety,” “depression,” “somatoform 

disorder,” or a “Somatic Symptoms Disorder?” 

3)  Should the August 11, 2021 oral agreement be revised to reflect the correct temporary total 

disability (TTD) benefits for the period May 17, 2020, through June 17, 2021, and is Employee 

entitled to any additional TTD benefits? 

4)  Should the August 11, 2021 oral agreement be modified to reflect or increase benefit 

payments to Employee under AS 23.30.041(k)? 

5)  Is Employee entitled to permanent total disability (PTD) benefits? 

6)  Is Employee entitled to medical treatment and travel expenses? 

7)  Is Employee entitled to a penalty? 

8)  Is Employee entitled to interest on any benefits? 

9)  Is Employee’s previous counsel entitled to additional attorney fees or costs? 

 

Results: 

1) Yes. 

2) No. 

3) Yes, and no. 

4) Yes. 

5) No. 

6) No. 

7) No. 

8) No. 

9) Yes. 

 

Discussion: 

 

Employee was injured working at a seafood facility.  His work-related physical injuries resolved; 

but his physician said there were “some psychosocial issues not relevant to work comp injury that 

might be precluding [Employee’s] return to work.”  Employee’s hearing testimony was 

inconsistent with statements to his physicians regarding stress, depression, and other issues.  

Notably, many years before his work injury, Employee’s brother had stabbed him in the back.  He 

told several doctors that his pain emanated from that same area.  Employee received treatment 

from mental health professionals to pain management specialists.  Despite extensive treatment, 

Employee’s condition did not improve long-term, possibly due to “self-limiting behavior.” 

 

149



Employee said he suffered extensively from “depression,” although most physicians and experts 

stated that his depression was not related to his work injury.  According to the experts, Employee’s 

self-reporting appeared unreliable, with his claims of pain fluctuating dramatically between 

different doctors, examinations, and self-report tests.  One physician said his pain claims “[do] not 

make rational sense” given his normal physical examination. 

 

1) On the last remand, Hernandez VI, the Commission only remanded two issues to the Board.  

Employer argued the remand was narrow, only to address identified issues.  Employee contended 

the issues were “intertwined.”  The Board found that the Commission expressly enumerated 

remanded issues.  It held that the Board’s rulings against Employee on numerous issues would not 

be revisited because the Commission had not remanded those issues and the Board’s undisturbed 

decision on those issues was the “law of the case.” 

 

2) Employee had credibility problems.  A number of his claims were either exaggerated, 

incredulous, or highly doubted by physicians.  Two physicians that supported him offered opinions 

that were either conclusory or relied on Employee’s inconsistent reports.  As such, the Board found 

their opinions “not credible” and entitled to little weight.  Employee testified that he never had 

similar physical or mental issues before his work injury  When confronted with statements he had 

made to his physician to the contrary, he stated those physicians were both “crazy.”  

“Overwhelming” medical evidence showed that Employee’s stab wound was the “substantial 

cause” of his pain, if he actually had pain at all.  As such, the Board found that, even setting aside 

Employee’s credibility problems, his “chronic pain” was not work-related.  As the pain was not 

work related, the Board also found that because Employee’s panic attacks, anxiety, depression, and 

possible somatoform disorder were, according to him, a direct result of his “pain,” those claims 

were likewise not work-related.  Therefore, Employee’s claims were all denied. 

 

3) At a previous Board hearing, Employer and Employee had stipulated that Employer would pay 

Employee $24,801 in exchange for a hearing continuance.  The next day, Employer realized it had 

erred in its TTD calculation and rather than pay the stipulated amount, it paid a few thousand 

dollars less.  The Board at the instant hearing found that because Employee became medically 

stable earlier than the parties previously thought when making their stipulation, Employer had 

overpaid him by $15,483 in TTD benefits.  Despite that overpayment, Employee contended that 

the Board should hold Employer to the stipulation, which would have required Employer to pay 

an extra $5,778.  But there was no “credible evidence” suggesting Employee became medically 

unstable and disabled, and therefore he was not entitled to more TTD benefits that would justify 

holding Employer to the stipulation.  The Board found “good cause” to relieve Employer from 

their previous stipulation.  To do otherwise would make Employer pay Employee money it did not 

owe and could never recover as an overpayment. 

  

4)  Employee argued that because Employer did not provide proper notice to the RBA that he had 

been disabled for more than 90 days, he was entitled to additional §041 stipend benefits.  The 

Board agreed in part, finding that Employer owed an additional 227 weeks and 3 days’ worth of 

“stipend.”  However, it also calculated that factoring in the TTD paid, prorated PPI, and already-

paid “stipend” benefits, Employer had still overpaid Employee by 13 weeks and one days’ worth 

of stipend.  As such, the Board ruled that the oral agreement should be modified to account for the 

overpayment to Employee, as required under AS 23.30.041(c). 

150



5) Employee argued that he was PTD status because he was unable to work more than a few hours 

occasionally at any job, making him an “odd-job” worker.  Employer disagreed, stating that there 

was no evidence he was permanently and totally disabled.  The Board found overwhelming 

evidence that Employee’s work-related injury had resolved and he was able to work.  Additionally, 

it found that Employee could not prove he had a mental health condition that precluded him from 

work.  The Board denied his PTD claim. 

 

6) As previously determined, the Board held that any unresolved pain Employee had was related 

to his stab wound and not a work injury, so he was not entitled to ongoing care. 

 

7) Employee raised several penalty claims under AS 23.30.070(f) and AS 23.30.155(e).  The 

Board held that since it denied these penalties and the Commission did not remand them, they 

would not be revisited.  Employee had filed a new claim, which included discrimination.  The 

Board held these claims related back to his previous claims, which Employer had properly 

controverted.  The only new claim was discrimination, which the Board held was outside of its 

jurisdiction.  The Board held that Employee filed certain “claims” not on claim forms, and 

therefore did not give Employer adequate notice of its duty to controvert or pay any associated 

benefits.  The Board held that it would be unfair to penalize Employer simply because it did not 

controvert or pay benefits associated with “claims” that were not readily identifiable as claims. 

 

8) Because the Employee was awarded no additional benefits, the Board denied his claim for 

interest. 

 

9) At some point, Employee had fired his lawyer, who had done a good job.  He had gotten 

Employee at least the stipulated $24,801 and some medical care; he filed his own claim.  Analyzing 

Rule 1.5(a) factors, the Board found that all factors either supported or did not affect Employee’s 

prior counsel’s request for attorney fees.  Therefore, they awarded his prior counsel his requested 

amount and additional fees for pursuing his own attorney fee claim.   

 

However, the Board noted that, regarding factor #1, when the panel asked Employee’s prior 

counsel to justify the time he spent on various legal tasks, his prior counsel argued that he spent 

the time “required” to do the task.  It noted the irrebuttable presumption created by prior counsel’s 

argument, and that the first Rule 1.5(a) factor (i.e., “the time and labor required, the novelty and 

difficulty of the questions involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal services properly”), 

was both difficult to quantify, and there was no practical guidance from the Court. 

 

No party appealed this decision. 

151



Martino v. Alaska Asphalt Services, LLC, AWCB Dec. No. 25-0048 (August 8, 

2025). 
 
Board Panel:   William Soule, Brad Austin 

 

Representatives:  David Graham for Employee  

       Rebecca Holdiman-Miller for Employer 

 

Issues: 

 

1) Shall Employee’s request for a cost-of-living-adjustment (COLA) be granted in part? 

2) Shall Employer’s request for a Social Security disability (SSD) offset be granted? 

3) Shall Employee’s February 6, 2025 and April 1, 2025 discovery petitions be denied? 

4) Shall Employee’s February 27, 2025 petition to “preserve evidence” be denied? 

5) Shall Employee’s March 25, 2025 petition for additional time to request a hearing on her 

January 25, 2022 claim be denied? 

6) Shall Employee’s May 8, 2025 petition to accept Graham’s appearances be granted? 

7) Shall Employee’s May 22, 2025 petition to strike medical records that exceeded her medical 

releases be denied? 

 

Results: 

 

1) Yes. 

2) Yes. 

3) Yes in part. 

4) Yes. 

5) Yes. 

6) Yes. 

7) Yes. 

 

Discussion: 

 

Employee was injured while operating a compactor.  After her injury, she moved from Alaska to 

Hawaii, then to Florida, and then back to Hawaii.  Thus, she requested a COLA because it is much 

more expensive to live in Hawaii than in either Alaska or Florida.  Employer agreed that Employee 

may be entitled to a COLA, but the COLA weekly rate would be limited by statute to the rate she 

received while living in Alaska.  Moreover, it contended that Employee never provided evidence 

of her physical addresses while living in each jurisdiction, and if she provided that evidence, 

Employer would calculate the COLA as required by law. 

 

Additionally, Employee made a February 6, 2025 discovery petition, a February 27, 2025 petition 

to preserve evidence, a March 25, 2025 petition for additional time to request a hearing, an April 

1, 2025 discovery petition, a May 8, 2025 petition to accept her attorney, David Graham’s “limited” 

appearances, and a May 22, 2025 petition to strike medical records that exceeded her releases. 

 

Employer requested a Social Security offset, given Employee’s SSD award.  Employee opposed. 

152



1) Regarding the COLA, the Board held that Employee’s prior lawyer’s July 6, 2020 letter to 

Employer’s attorney provided exact dates and places Employee lived to which the COLA would 

apply.  Even though Employee did not specify the exact city in Hawaii where she physically 

resided, that was immaterial to her COLA, as Hawaii has the same COLA ratio across the entire 

state.  It also held that the Division “Change of Address” form 07-6138’s purpose was to advise 

parties and the Division of a change for serving process, and was not required to be used to inform 

the Division or Employer that Employee’s physical residence address had changed.  The form 

existed “for the parties’ convenience” in changing a mailing address but “any written notice would 

suffice for providing a new mailing or residence address.”  The Board also held that AS 

23.30.175(b) did not require specific proof of address for an insurance company to apply a COLA 

to recipients not residing in Alaska, if benefits are payable.  As Employee proved that she resided 

in Hawaii under a preponderance of the evidence standard, using the presumption of 

compensability, the Board granted Employee’s COLA, and capped it to her Alaska rate in 

accordance with §.175(b)(5). 

 

2) In calculating the Social Security offset, the Board relied on 8 AAC 45.225(b), which specifies 

the offset reduction process.  Using the standard formula, the Board calculated Employee’s reduced 

weekly compensation rate under the Act.  Moreover, in fairness given that Employer had 

“significantly overpaid” Employee’s total temporary disability (TTD) benefits, the Board granted 

Employer’s request for a 50 percent recoupment rate to account for her SSD benefits.  This further 

reduced her weekly rate under the Act.  But Employee would still receive her military disability 

benefits as well as her SSD at its full rate. 

 

3) In considering Employee’s numerous discovery-related petitions, the Board found Employee’s 

discovery petitions to be either moot, baseless, confusing, unsupported by evidence, or a 

combination of all four. 

 

4) The petition for evidence preservation was denied because the only evidence known to have 

been destroyed was not destroyed by a party to this case, but by an EME’s office.  Moreover, 

Employee had photographs of the documents she contended the EME had destroyed. 

 

5) Employee’s petition for more time to request a hearing was denied as unnecessary and moot, 

because she had already filed numerous hearing requests on all pending issues.  The Board 

designee at a prehearing conference had previously held Employee’s timely hearing requests in 

abeyance because they were not yet ripe. 

 

6) Despite Employer’s objections to Graham’s appearances, the Board held that, although 

uncommon, Graham’s limited appearances were not prohibited by any statute or regulation.  It also 

noted that allowing Graham’s limited appearances would serve “the Court’s preference to 

encourage attorneys to represent injured workers in workers’ compensation proceedings.” 

 

7) The Board denied Employee’s petition to strike medical records, primarily because she failed 

to identify the records she wanted removed or recovered.  Moreover, the Board held it would have 

been impossible for the panel to review all of Employee’s medical releases, assuming they were 

even in the file, and compare them to every medical record in her file.  Further, if Employee signed 

limited medical record releases, and Employer used those unaltered releases to request Employee’s 

153



limited medical records, Employer is not responsible if a medical provider releases records that 

exceed the scope of Employee’s signed releases.  If Employee’s petition was seeking a protective 

to “recover” medical records that were unrelated under AS 23.30.108(d), she should list the 

offending records, provide the list to the Employer, and serve Employer a petition for a protective 

order in accordance with §.108(d). 

 

Sadly, attorney Graham passed away shortly after the Board issued this decision. 

154



Carey v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Dec. No. 25-0034 (May 22, 2025). 
 

 

Board Panel:    William Soule, Sara Faulkner 

 

Representatives:   Adam Franklin for Employee  

        Adam Sadoski for Employer 

 

Issues:  

1) Was the RBA-designee’s ineligibility decision an abuse of discretion? 

2) Should the RBA-designee’s determination be remanded? 

3) May this panel reconsider the RBA-designee’s ineligibility decision? 

Results: 

1) No. 

2) Yes. 

3) No. 

Discussion: 

Employee was injured after slipping while getting into his work truck.  Employee’s reemployment 

specialist submitted an eligibility report recommending him eligible for reemployment benefits.  

In her report, she incorrectly identified a PA-C, who treated Employee’s spine, as an MD.  

Employer objected to the eligibility evaluation, given AS 23.30.041€, which required Employee 

to present predictions from “a physician,” and urged the RBA-designee to find Employee not 

eligible for reemployment.  The RBA-designee considered Employee’s entire file, and determined 

he was not eligible for reemployment benefits, based not on the PA-C versus MD mistake, but 

simply on giving greater weight to the EME physician.  Employee appealed the RBA-designee’s 

decision to the Board. 

 

1) On appeal, Employee contended the RBA-designee abused her discretion by finding him not 

eligible for reemployment.  He sought an order either modifying the finding so that he is eligible, 

or a remand to consider new, additional medical evidence not initially considered.  Employer 

contended there was no abuse of discretion, as the designee’s determination was supported by 

substantial evidence and it had followed the law.  Even though some medical evidence upon which 

the RBA-designee relied could be interpreted differently than the RBA-designee read it, the Board 

declined to insert its own interpretation and instead found that the RBA designee’s decision was 

not an abuse of discretion because no evidence suggested the decision was “arbitrary, capricious, 

manifestly unreasonable,” or stemmed “from an improper motive.”  The designee also properly 

applied controlling law and applicable regulations. 

 

2) Employee alternatively contended that the physician upon whom RBA-designee and relied had 

changed his opinion.  Therefore, Employee contended the matter should be modified or at least 

remanded to the RBA-designee for potential modification under AS 23.30.130.  Employer 

contended that Employee never requested “modification,” and only “appealed” the RBA-

designee’s determination.  Therefore, it contended that the subject physician’s revised opinions 

could not be considered at that hearing.  In other words, if Employee wanted the Board to review 

155



 

 

and potentially modify the RBA-designee’s decision, he should have specifically asked for 

“modification.”  The Board rejected Employer’s argument, citing Hodges, Hulsey and Metcalf 

Alaska Supreme Court precedent to support its findings.  It held that to deny Employee’s petition 

based on semantics would run counter to the purpose of the Act under AS 23.30.001, which 

requires quick, fair and efficient litigation at a reasonable cost to employers.  The Board also 

emphasized its power under AS 23.30.110 to “hear and determine ‘all questions’” in claims.  As 

such, the Board found it “[could not] ignore the fact that the opinion upon which the RBA-designee 

relied . . . had changed,” and remanded the decision to the RBA-designee to take another look at 

the evidence.  The Board reminded the RBA-designee that AS 23.30.395(3)(D) states that an 

“attending physician” means “a licensed physician assistant acting under supervision of a licensed 

medical doctor,” and the PA-C was therefore qualified to offer a prediction under §041(e). 

 

3)  Employee contended that the RBA-designee should reconsider her ineligibility determination.  

Employer did not directly address this, but maintained that the RBA-designee properly exercised 

her discretion.  The Board found it could not “reconsider” the RBA-designee’s decision, as the 

Board did not make it.  It also noted the instant decision remanding the case to the RBA-designee 

rendered Employee’s request asking the RBA-designee to reconsider her decision moot. 

156



McDonald v. Rock and Dirt Env’t Inc., AWCAC Dec. No. 310 (May 14, 2025). 
 

 

Board Panel:    William Soule, Anthony Ladd, Mark Sayampanathan 

 

Commission Panel:  James Rhodes, Steve Hagedorn, Andrew Hemenway 

 

Representatives:   Eric McDonald for Appellant 

        Colby Smith for Appellees 

 

Issues:  

1) Did the Board have authority to find that Employee did not settle his third-party 

lawsuit, even if a judge in the third-party lawsuit ruled otherwise? 

2) Did collateral estoppel bar Employee from contesting the existence of a settlement 

agreement in subsequent litigation of a different claim (his workers’ compensation claim), 

in a different forum (the Board), against a different party (Employer and its insurer)? 

 

Results: 

1) Yes. 

2) No. 

 

Discussion: 

 

On June 6, 2014, Appellant was injured in a workplace incident.  Employee concurrently litigated 

his claim against Employer, and filed a third-party lawsuit against two third-parties he alleged were 

liable for his injuries.  In 2019, Appellant’s third-party attorneys withdrew and the Superior Court 

later granted the third-parties’ motion to dismiss the lawsuit due to an alleged settlement 

agreement.  About a year later, Appellant filed a motion to set-aside the dismissal, and a different 

judge granted the motion on grounds that the third-parties had not established the existence of the 

alleged settlement agreement.  The third-parties appealed, and the Alaska Supreme Court declined 

to answer whether an agreement existed.  Instead, the Court reversed the second judge’s decision 

and ruled that the third-party case could not be heard because Employee’s motion for relief was 

improper under Civil Rules due to an unreasonably late filing.  That left the first judge’s order 

dismissing the third-party case as the only effective order. 

 

Employer petitioned the Board to dismiss Employee’s claim under AS 23.30.015(h) because he 

had compromised the third-party suit without its written consent, as required by law.  The Board 

granted the petition and dismissed the claim, ruling that the Superior Court’s order finding the 

compromise, i.e., settlement’s existence was binding on the Board.  Employee appealed. 

 

1) The Commission held that the Board has jurisdiction to decide for itself if there was a 

compromise under §.015(h) because it was not asked to overturn the Superior Court’s ruling, but 

to make a factual determination as to whether Employee had settled his third-party suit.  The Board 

has authority to do this, and therefore has jurisdiction. 

 

2) The Commission held that the third-party issue was “not actually litigated” for purposes of 

collateral estoppel.  Despite the order of dismissal having no mention of an untimely opposition, 

there was a court order stating it would sign the dismissal if Employee did not file a response by a 

157



 

 

certain date, and the court did not possess a response on the date the order of dismissal was signed.  

Additionally, the online docket said the case was “dismissed by stipulation or unopposed 

motion[,]” and the court denied a motion for additional time.  Therefore, the motion to dismiss was 

best seen as “uncontested” and “not actually litigated.”  As such, collateral estoppel did not apply. 

 

Moreover, even if collateral estoppel did apply, this case’s situation precludes it.  Collateral 

estoppel may be avoided when “[t]he determination relied on as preclusive was itself inconsistent 

with another determination of the same issue[.]”  As the two previous Superior Court decisions 

were inconsistent as to whether a settlement existed, applying collateral estoppel here would have 

been improper.  To apply collateral estoppel here would defeat its purpose and the fundamental 

fairness underlying it as an equitable doctrine. 

 

Therefore, the Appeals Commission vacated the Board’s decision, and remanded the case 

back to the Board for additional fact-finding on Employer’s §.015(h) dismissal request. 

158



Rusch v. SEARHC 
 

Rusch I: 
 

Rusch v. SEARHC, 453 P.3d 784 (Alaska 2019). 

 

Representatives:  John Franich for Employee  

   Michael Budzinski for Employer 

 

Issues:  (1) Did the Commission err in affirming the Board’s attorney fee award? 

(2) How do fact-finders determine how much to award in attorney fees? 

 

Results: (1) Yes. 

  (2) Good question. 

 

Discussion:  

 

This line of three Supreme Court decisions began in Rusch I addressing how to calculate attorney 

fees in a case where the parties settled everything at mediation, except the two claimants’ attorney 

fees.  These decisions morphed into fees for the claimants’ successful appeals of the Board’s fee 

decisions.  Now it appears these cases apply to attorney fees at all levels in workers’ compensation 

cases.  It is complicated law and requires some historical explanation to try to understand it: 

 

A mediator resolved two claims by two different workers, represented by the same attorney, against 

the same employer, with both workers receiving “substantial settlements.”  The parties could not 

agree on attorney fees, so the fee issue went to the Board.  After a hearing, the Board in December 

2016 significantly reduced the claimants’ fees but still made substantial awards.  The Board based 

some hourly rate reductions for David Graham, who represented Employee before the Board, by 

comparing Graham’s workers’ compensation experience with seasoned workers’ compensation 

lawyers.  Note that comparing a lawyer’s workers’ compensation experience to experienced 

workers’ compensation lawyers was the primary way the Board and Commission had decided 

attorney fee awards for decades. 

 

The claimants appealed the Board’s award to the Commission, and the Commission affirmed. 

 

The claimants appealed the Commission’s fee award to the Alaska Supreme Court.  The Court in 

Rusch I reminded us that fee awards must be “adequate to ensure that competent counsel are 

available to represent injured workers.”  It decided that the Board should have used the Singh 

analysis to evaluate a claimant’s success on an issue in a workers’ compensation settlement.  Rusch 

I stated Singh “places the burden on the party opposing attorney’s fees to show lack of merit.” 

 

Thus, in a workers' compensation settlement where the parties dispute the issues on 

which a claimant prevailed for purposes of attorney's fees, the employer “who 

contends that [its] conduct was a wholly gratuitous response to a [claim] that lacked 

colorable merit, must demonstrate the worthlessness of the . . . claim[ ] and explain 

why [it] nonetheless voluntarily gave the [claimant] the requested relief. 

 

Rusch I made new law that changed how the Board must decide attorney fees: 

159



• All a lawyer’s legal experience must be considered. 

• “. . . the Board must consider all of the factors set out in Alaska Rule of Professional 

Conduct 1.5(a) when determining a reasonable attorney's fee.”   

• “. . . the Board must consider each [Rule 1.5] factor and either make findings related to that 

factor or explain why that factor is not relevant.” 

• “. . . the Board needs to explain how decreasing Graham's hourly fee is consistent with the 

contingent nature of workers' compensation attorney’s fees. . . .” 

• The Board must consider evidence of all cases in which an attorney has assisted an injured 

worker, and not just those in which he or she entered an appearance. 

• If the Board considers an attorney’s fee affidavit “inadequate” for some reason, the Board 

should inform the attorney before or at the hearing and allow him or her an opportunity to 

modify the affidavit before ruling on his or her attorney fee request. 

• Extra-record information about attorney fees derived from the Division’s database cannot 

be used to reduce attorney fees without giving the claiming attorney an opportunity to see and 

respond to it. 

• The “reasonableness” of a final attorney fee award is not in itself a factual finding.  

However, considering and applying various factors may involve factual determinations. 

• Attorneys who do not employ a paralegal can bill the attorney’s “paralegal services” at the 

attorney’s hourly rate. 

• “The Act is to be construed and applied in a manner that encourages, not discourages, 

attorney representation of injured workers.” 

• Reducing attorney time based on how the attorney breaks up a one-hour period, or for 

“block-billing,” is inappropriate because no statute or regulation prevents billing in these 

manners. 

• “Common injuries” do not support a finding that a particular case is “not complex.” 

• The Court “noted that employees' attorneys need to earn more than a ‘normal hourly fee’ 

on successful cases because they receive nothing on unsuccessful cases.” 

 

Rusch I cited Rule 1.5(a), which sets out eight non-exclusive “factors to be considered in 

determining the reasonableness of a fee,” specifically: 

 

(1) the time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions involved, and the 

skill requisite to perform the legal services properly; 

(2) the likelihood, that the acceptance of the particular employment will preclude other 

employment by the lawyer; 

(3) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services; 

(4) the amount involved, and the results obtained; 

(5) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances; 

(6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client; 

(7) the experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the services; and 

(8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent. 

 

Rusch I reversed and remanded, finding the Board and the Commission had made errors. 

 

 

160



Rusch II: 
 

Rusch v. SEARHC, 517 P.3d 1157 (Alaska 2022). 

 

Representatives:  John Franich for Employee  

   Michael Budzinski for Employer 

 

Issues:  (1) Did the Commission err again in awarding appellate attorney fees? 

(2) How do fact-finders determine how much to award in attorney fees? 

 

Results: (1) Yes. 

  (2) Good question. 

 

Discussion:  

 

With the win in Rusch I, the claimants were entitled to full, reasonable attorney fees at the Supreme 

Court level and at the Commission level too.  When the claimants were not happy with the 

Commission’s attorney fee award, they appealed that order to the Supreme Court.  Rusch II 

addressed the Commission’s attorney fee decision for work done at the Commission level.  It 

revealed that the Court had awarded Graham and Franich $60,000 in attorney fees ($30,000 each) 

for the Rusch I appeal to the Court.  So, the claimants moved for a fee award from the Commission.  

To understand Rusch II, one needs to understand the “modified lodestar” fee approach. 

 

Just before Rusch I was issued, the Court issued Adkins v. Collens, 444 P.3d 187 (Alaska 2019).  

Adkins found “the superior court’s attorney’s fee award was unreasonable.”  The Court was 

“convinced” the trial court “should” use the “modified lodestar” attorney fee approach in “fee-

shifting” cases, “may” apply the Johnson-Kerr factors in applying it, and remanded the case to the 

trial court to recalculate the attorney fee award.  The Johnson-Kerr factors, include the same 

factors from Rule 1.5(a), but added: 

 

(9) the “undesirability” of the case; 

(10) awards in similar cases. 

 

Adkins stated the “modified lodestar” method is a way for a court to “calculate reasonable attorney 

fees” in cases involving “fee-shifting” provisions.  The modified lodestar method works like this: 

The judge in step one determines reasonable hours the attorney worked in representing the client 

and then determines a reasonable hourly rate.  Reasonable hours times reasonable hourly rate = 

the lodestar attorney fee.  To help determine the lodestar in step one, the judge may use some or 

all of the Rule 1.5(a) and .Johnson-Kerr factors.  In step two, the judge decides if there is a reason 

to “modify” the lodestar by either enhancing or decreasing the award.  Adkins states that to help 

determine step two, the judge may use some but not all of the same Johnson-Kerr factors in step 

one or two (lodestar fee + or - applicable factors = modified lodestar attorney fee award).  Adkins 

said this method “does not invite a situation in which fees could vary widely depending on the 

plaintiff’s recovery.”  It is unclear what the Court meant by that statement.  It added: 

 

For one, we agree . . . that a contingency enhancement in the second step of the 

lodestar determination can provide a “risk premium” necessary to induce competent 

161



counsel to litigate claims when payment for legal services is contingent on success 

in the case.  We thus leave it within the trial court's discretion to consider the 

contingent nature of a fee agreement when calculating an attorney’s fee award 

under the modified lodestar approach, and to incorporate considerations about this 

factor into either the first or second step of the modified lodestar calculation. 

 

The claimants after Rusch I asked the Commission to adopt the “modified lodestar approach to 

awarding fees,” and to enhance its requested fee for prevailing on appeal.  The claimants had 

sought a $450 per hour “lodestar” amount for hours their attorneys documented for the 

Commission appeal.  The claimants argued that their “lodestar rate” did not consider the contingent 

nature of workers’ compensation appeals and argued it was therefore not fully compensable.  

Moreover, why would they handle workers’ compensation appeals on a contingency fee basis, if 

they could do other appeals and earn $450 per hour without risk?  They argued that $600 per hour, 

a one-third enhancement from $450, was required as the “modified lodestar” amount. 

 

The employer in Rusch countered by noting the previous hourly rates awarded to the attorneys 

were already enhanced for the contingency factor and therefore their enhancement was not 

justified.  The employer also argued that $600 per hour would be 240% above fees commonly 

charged by defense counsel, although they did not supply any supporting evidence. 

 

In its attorney fee order, the Commission declined to apply the modified lodestar approach, 

primarily finding Rusch I had not “mandated” it.  The Commission decided that $400 to $450 per 

hour was a reasonable contingent hourly rate for Commission appeals, and enhancing fees above 

this “lodestar” amount would contravene the Act’s mandate that claims be resolved in part “at a 

reasonable cost to the employer.”  It further considered that allowing enhanced fees in a no-fault 

system would have a “chilling effect” on employers’ willingness to appeal decisions, and 

improperly encourage employees to appeal minor or frivolous issues because they could receive 

large attorney fee awards.  The Commission interpreted the Act to not allow enhanced fees using 

the modified lodestar method at least for attorney fees on appeal before the Commission. 

 

The Commission awarded $450 per hour to both attorneys.  The claimants appealed again to the 

Supreme Court, which gave rise to Rusch II. 

 

Rusch II stated a claimant must prevail on “a significant issue on appeal” to be awarded fees for 

an appeal, whereas Board-awarded fees depend on success on the “claim itself.”  “In both 

instances, however, fee awards depend on success and are thus contingent fees.”  “We have 

consistently construed the Act as requiring attorney’s fee awards for claimants in both court and 

administrative proceedings to be ‘fully compensable and reasonable so that competent counsel will 

be available to furnish legal services to injured workers.’” 

 

Rusch II agreed with the claimants and rejected the Commission’s statutory interpretation that the 

Act did not allow for enhanced attorney fees under the modified lodestar approach.  The Court 

noted that “employer costs” is but one consideration when construing the Act, but not the only one.  

There has to be a “balancing of competing interests.”  The Court decided this was especially true 

in Juneau and Fairbanks where finding attorneys to represent injured workers is more difficult.  As 

for the Commission’s “lack-of-a-mandate” conclusion, Rusch II fees must “be fully compensatory 

and reasonable,” and had “explicitly stated” in Bignell that “full compensation is not necessarily 

162



limited to an award of an hourly fee.”  Here, the claimants argued for a “multiplier of two” be used 

in all cases “to account for contingency.”  They acknowledged that the “modified lodestar method 

does not always enhance, and sometimes even decreases” baseline hourly fees. 

 

Rusch II stated “. . . at times enhancement of a lodestar fee may be appropriate to fully compensate 

attorneys representing claimants in difficult cases.”  It found that the Commission “did not explain 

in any detail” how it weighed the Rule 1.5(a) factors to come to its $450 per hour result as “fully 

compensatory and reasonable.”  Rusch II rejected the “tiered approach” to awarding attorney fees, 

based on experience as attorneys moved to higher levels as they represented more claimants.  Thus, 

on remand the Commission should consider the possible impact this tiered approach may have on 

unavailability of representation for people living in Juneau, for example.  Rusch II stated: 

 

On remand the Commission should evaluate the claimants’ requests and evidence, 

and make findings that explain how it considered the Professional Conduct Rule 

1.5(a) factors in determining fees, understanding that it is permitted, but not 

required, to enhance fees under a modified lodestar approach. 

 

However, to muddy the waters a lot, in footnote 16, Rusch II referred back to Adkins and stated: 

 

In Adkins we explicitly distinguished federal law and allowed courts to consider a 

contingency enhancement when deciding whether to adjust the lodestar even if 

contingency was a factor in determining the baseline lodestar amount because we 

recognized that such an enhancement “can provide a ‘risk premium’ necessary to 

induce competent counsel to litigate claims” (emphasis added). 

 

Note that according to this footnote, claimants can use the contingency factor twice, once to 

establish their lodestar rate, and again to support modifying and enhancing that rate.  But the above 

statement from Rusch II footnote 16 is not what the Court said in Adkins, where it actually stated, 

“We thus leave it within the trial court’s discretion to consider the contingent nature of a fee 

agreement when calculating an attorney’s fee award under the modified lodestar approach, and to 

incorporate considerations about this factor into either the first or second step of the modified 

lodestar calculation” (emphasis added). 

 

Note that primarily for practitioners’ benefit, Rusch II also clarified procedural law.  It determined 

that because the Board’s underlying attorney fee award was final, and was appealed, the 

Commission’s fee order was also appealable as a “final decision.”  Ordinarily, if the Commission 

remands a case to the Board at conclusion of an appeal, its attorney fee order is not “final” for 

appeal purposes.  Under these circumstances, it is.  A successful claimant on appeal has to appeal 

the Commission’s fee award within 30 days or risk losing the right to appeal it altogether. 

 

  

163



Rusch III: 
 

Rusch v. SEARHC, 563 P.3d 2 (Alaska 2025). 

 

Representatives: John Franich & David Graham for Appellants 

   Michael Budzinski for Appellee 

 

Issues:  (1) Did the Commission err again in awarding appellate fees after Rusch II? 

(2) How do fact-finders determine how much to award in attorney fees? 

 

Results: (1) Yes. 

  (2) Good question. 

 

Discussion:  

 

As for Rusch II’s direction that the Commission on remand consider that small-town lawyers might 

have a different hourly rate than lawyers in larger communities, the Commission had noted the 

prevalence of “the Internet, Zoom, and multiple other electronic products available almost 

anywhere in Alaska.”  The Commission had decided that technology mitigated the distance and 

“smallness factors” as deterrents to finding a lawyer in smaller communities.  It did not discuss 

amounts involved in the underlying claims that were settled.  As for “the experience, reputation 

and ability of the claimants’ attorneys,” the Commission had agreed they were experienced, and 

their experience justified the “modified lodestar rate of $450 per hour.”  It had further found the 

contingency factor was implicitly recognized in the $450 hourly rate.  The claimants appealed 

again to the Supreme Court. 

 

Rusch III held that the Commission mistakenly conflated the “lodestar” with “modified lodestar” 

concepts and did not change its original attorney fee award and decided $450 per hour was a 

reasonable and fully compensatory hourly rate for work before the Commission.  It again reviewed 

Adkins and noted, “In cases about both appellate fees and Board-awarded fees, we have applied 

the principle that fees awarded to claimants’ attorneys should be adequate to compensate for 

unsuccessful claims.”  Rusch III stated again that employers’ attorney fees were not an adequate 

measure of the market rate for claimants’ attorneys.  It stated that if a claimant on appeal wins only 

“minor” or “side issues,” they may recover a lower fee.  “But claimants are entitled to an appellate 

fee award even when they do not win all points on appeal: they must simply succeed on a 

significant issue.” 

 

As to the so-called “tier system” Rusch III suggested an “individualized analysis” that considers 

“risk, difficulty, novelty, skill, or any other factor specific to a given case” needs to apply.  In an 

apparent effort to clarify Adkins without resorting to a footnote, Rusch III expanded upon footnote 

16 in Rusch II and stated: 

 

In Adkins . . . we decided that an adjudicator using the modified lodestar method 

can use any of the Johnson-Kerr factors when considering an enhancement, even if 

that factor has been used to determine the lodestar fee.  Contingency can thus be 

considered both when establishing the lodestar and when determining whether 

enhancement of a lodestar fee is justified in specific litigation.  We adopted this 

164



approach because “a contingency enhancement in the second step of the lodestar 

determination can provide a ‘risk premium’ necessary to induce competent counsel 

to litigate claims when payment for legal services is contingent on success in the 

case.”  This is consistent with our goal of awarding adequate fees in workers’ 

compensation cases so that competent counsel are available to represent injured 

workers (emphasis added). 

 

Note that to the extent Adkins did not say what footnote 16 in Rusch II says it said, the Court has 

now expressly stated the above.  A claimant can use the contingency factor twice in the modified 

lodestar attorney fee method.  With this revised framework in mind, Rusch III reviewed the 

Commission’s fee award decision the Commission made on remand: 

 

Rusch III found the “fees awarded were an abuse of discretion in light of the findings the 

Commission made” applying the Rule 1.5(a) factors.  Rusch III did not find the Commission’s 

consideration of its own prior attorney fee awards in addressing some Rule 1.5(a) factors in itself 

an error.  The Commission was still free to consider its own prior awards, “which are accessible 

to the public,” in analyzing the relevant Rule 1.5 factors.  Note it is not clear to the Division where 

the Commission’s attorney fee awards are accessible to the public; they are not published. 

 

Rusch III found that the Commission had focused on only three Rule 1.5(a) factors, even though 

the parties disagreed about applicability of the other factors.  In such case, the modified lodestar 

method requires that the Commission consider more than just those three factors.  The Court found 

the Commission’s repeated reliance on fees awarded in past cases to other experienced attorneys 

supported the claimant’s assertion “that the Commission was resisting compliance with our 

directions on remand.”  Rusch III further found that the Commission discounted the claimants’ 

“new law about attorney’s fee awards” before the “Board and the Commission,” as ever being an 

enhancement factor in this or any other case.  “This factor can distinguish cases involving routine 

application of substantial evidence review, with little impact on the legal rules governing future 

cases, from cases that create new precedent.” 

 

On remand, the Commission must enhance the fee awards to account for the 

findings it has already made.  The Commission is not required to award the precise 

hourly rate the claimants seek, but it must award some enhancement to account for 

factors that favored enhancement.  We leave to the Commission the choice of 

enhancing the hourly rate, at the first stage of the modified lodestar method, or the 

overall fee award, at the second stage of the modified lodestar method, or both.  But 

the Commission must adhere to its own findings supporting enhancement.  And to 

be clear, it must apply the modified lodestar method.  Moreover, to the extent that 

the Johnson-Kerr factors are not fully captured in the Rule 1.5(a) factors, we clarify 

now that the Commission must consider all relevant Johnson-Kerr factors in 

applying the modified lodestar method. 

 

As an aside, in footnote 88 Rusch III stated: 

 

The Commission is not required to make findings about factors that the parties 

agree do not affect the case.  Similarly, if the parties agree on an hourly rate or the 

employer does not oppose a requested hourly rate, neither the Board nor the 

165



Commission needs to make findings about factors related to fee awards.  The Board 

is required to make findings of fact about issues that are contested and material 

(emphasis in original). 

 

In footnote 101 it stated: 

 

Attorneys for claimants are not required to seek enhanced fees, nor is the 

Commission required to use the modified lodestar method if the parties agree to an 

hourly rate.  Also, the Commission does not need to make findings about factors 

that the parties agree are irrelevant. 

 

Rusch III vacated and remanded back to the Commission again, for redetermination of an 

appropriate attorney fee award for work the claimants did before the Commission.  With their most 

recent successful appeal in Rusch III, the claimants are entitled to full reasonable attorney fees as 

successful appellant’s before both the Supreme Court, and before the Commission, yet again.  The 

claimants requested in excess of $300,000 for an enhanced attorney fee under the modified lodestar 

approach just for services rendered on appeal before the Supreme Court for prevailing in Rusch 

III.  The Division anxiously awaited to see how the Court applied its own modified lodestar 

approach to the claimants’ request for the Court to award attorney fees for their successful appeal; 

i.e., how the Court determined reasonable hours for the attorneys’ work, how it determines a 

reasonable hourly rate, and if it enhances the resultant lodestar fee. 

 

Note that not addressed in the Rusch series is the question of how a mediator’s expertise in any 

given case, and the claimant’s lawyer’s inexperience, interacted to result in a “substantial 

settlement.”  In other words, excluding the instant case or any case in particular, one could argue 

that it is “unreasonable” for a claimant’s attorney to receive a substantial attorney fee award when 

a mediator’s expertise is what actually results in the claimant’s “substantial settlement,” in spite of 

the lawyer’s experience or inexperience. 

 

Note that the most perplexing issue for the Board remains how to determine if a lawyer’s time on 

a specific legal service was “reasonable.”  The Division hoped that the Court’s analysis and order 

on the claimants’ lawyers’ request for modified lodestar fees for work done on appeal would inform 

the Board and others how to determine a fair, reasonable and fully compensatory fee. 

 

UPDATE!  The Alaska Supreme Court, after several months, ordered that the attorneys would get 

$500 per hour for their services before the Court.  There was no analysis. 

166



Travelers Property Casualty Co. of America v. Keluco General Contractors,  

572 P.3d 537 (Alaska 2025). 

 

Representatives: Thomas Lether for Appellant 

Debra Fitzgerald and Jonathan Katcher for Appellees 

 

Issue:  

 

Did the insurer provide proper notice of cancellation of a workers’ compensation policy to 

the employer policyholder? 

 

Result: 

 

No. 

 

Discussion: 

 

Keluco, general contractor, secured a workers’ compensation policy through Travelers.  The policy 

was effective for one year.  In 2017 a few months after the one-year period, a Keluco worker fell 

20 feet from a roof onto concrete and fractured his skull, among other serious injuries; he has never 

returned to work and has a guardian.  Keluco made a claim for the injured worker on its policy, 

but Travelers denied it because, come to find out, the policy had expired prior to the worker’s 

injury.  Keluco claimed it never received a renewal notice or notice that its policy was set to expire, 

as required under Title 21: “If notice is required from an insurer under this chapter, the insurer 

shall . . . mail the notice by first class mail to the last known address of the insured and obtain a 

certificate of mailing from the United States Postal Service.” 

 

The Division’s SIU went after Keluco as an uninsured employer and Keluco ended up paying a 

$3,375 civil penalty.  The injured worker hired an attorney who filed a claim, which included the 

Guaranty Fund.  After litigation before the Board, Keluco was ordered to pay all past benefits, and 

substantial penalties, plus attorney fees and costs.  Eventually, the injured worker settled for an 

additional $1.2 million and $129,010 more to his attorney in fees and costs.  Keluco had to sell 

some of its real property to satisfy this agreement. 

 

Not too surprisingly, in 2019 Keluco sued its insurance agent for breach of contract; the agent 

added Travelers as another defendant.  The agent settled by paying about $250,000.  Keluco moved 

for summary judgment against Travelers claiming it failed to obtain a USPS “certificate of 

mailing” for the nonrenewal and expiration notice.  In other words, Travelers had failed to follow 

the statute, which by Alaska law became part of its insurance contract with Keluco.  Travelers 

contended its “internal mailing records” were proof-of-mailing.  Its protocol was to send mail 

“First Class with Affidavit” combined with USPS form 3877, which qualifies as proof of mailing 

when a stamp is affixed to the form.  However, Travelers’ form 3877 contained no stamp and no 

certification by a postmaster confirming receipt of mail.  Travelers nonetheless said that its internal 

records should still suffice.  The trial court rejected the “internal records” theory noting that the 

legislature had amended the statute to require the USPS “certificate of mailing” to address this 

very issue, and to accept an insurer’s “internal records” would nullify the statute. 

 

167



The trial court granted Keluco summary judgment on these facts.  Considering Travelers’ failure 

to obtain proof of mailing when it sent its nonrenewal notice to Keluco, and absent any verification 

from the USPS that Travelers sent the notice as it claimed, the trial court found Travelers breached 

its contract with Keluco by (1) failing to provide the required nonrenewal notice, and (2) by failing 

to defend Keluco against the workers’ compensation claim and pay the benefits. 

 

But wait!  There’s more!  Since Travelers failed to provide a proper nonrenewal notice under AS 

21.36.240(c), the policy remained in effect at the time the worker was injured and Travelers was 

responsible for any benefits owed under the workers’ compensation policy. 

 

Faced with this, Keluco and Travelers stipulated to Keluco’s damages, but disagreed on the 

prejudgment interest start date.  Ultimately, after the appeal, the Supreme Court ended up affirming 

the trial court’s summary judgment, clarified the start date for interest, and Travelers ended up 

paying Keluco approximately $3.9 million ($2.7 million in principal damages + $1.2 million in 

prejudgment interest).  The extra USPS fee for the “certificate of mailing” was around $.65. . . . 

 

Note that AS 23.30.030(5) similarly has a litigation landmine in plain sight for the unwary 

employer or insurer: 

 

AS 23.30.030. Required policy provisions. A policy of a company insuring the 

payment of compensation under this chapter is considered to contain the provisions 

set out in this section. . . . 

 

5) A termination of the policy by cancellation is not effective as to the employees 

of the insured employer covered by it until 20 days after written notice of the 

termination has been received by the division.  If the employer has a contract with 

the state or a home rule or other political subdivision of the state, and the employer's 

policy is cancelled due to nonpayment of a premium, the termination of the policy 

is not effective as to the employees of the insured employer covered by it until 20 

days after written notice of the termination has been received by the contracting 

agency, and the agency has the option of continuing the payments on behalf of the 

employer in order to keep the policy in force.  If, however, the employer has secured 

insurance with another insurance carrier, cancellation is effective as of the date of 

the new coverage. 

168



Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital. 
 

Woodell I: 
 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, AWCB Dec. No. 19-0077 (July 26, 2019). 

 

Representatives:   Joe Kalmarides for Employee on Woodell I through IV 

        Employee represented beginning in V 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Employee a nurse on September 21, 2018, unknowingly cared for a Clostridium Difficile (C. Diff) 

patient while not wearing “personal protective equipment” (PPE).  “Contact precaution” signs 

were not posted; on his next shift, Employee saw “contact precaution” for that patient.  He 

developed symptoms and tested positive for “hospital-acquired” C. Diff in December 2018. 

 

He claimed for TTD and medical benefits, an unfair or frivolous controversion, fees, costs, and a 

penalty.  Employer controverted solely on grounds he failed to report his injury timely under §.100.  

An EME physician stated he could not “determine the commencement of C. Diff infection.”  He 

neither confirmed nor excluded the September 21, 2018 exposure as a cause for the C. Diff. 

 

Issues:  

 

1) Was Employee’s claim barred for failure to give timely notice? 

2) Is Employee entitled to attorney fees and costs? 

 

Results: 

 

1) No. 

2) Yes. 

 

Discussion: 

 

The parties agreed to hear only timeliness of Employee’s injury “notice” as a preliminary, 

dispositive issue, along with attorney fees if he won. 

 

(1) Employee testified that after seeing contact precaution signs in a patient’s room, he told the 

charge nurse that he had cared for that same C. Diff patient while not wearing PPE the prior day.  

Employer’s witness Miller testified about “causation”; she had reviewed patients’ charts and said 

she could not identify a patient with C. Diff during the relevant time.  She did not produce evidence 

contrary to Employee’s testimony that he reported his exposure to his charge nurse on the next 

shift; Employer did not even interview the charge nurse.  The Board found Employee developed a 

C. Diff infection on September 21, 2018.  It also found that Employer had actual knowledge of his 

injury when he advised the charge nurse that he had treated a C. Diff patient while not wearing 

PPE.  Employee’s claim was not barred for failure to give timely notice of his injury.  Note: the 

only issue for hearing was notice and related attorney fees -- not causation. 

 

(2) Employee requested attorney fees and costs, and the Board awarded them. 

 

169



Employer petitioned the Commission for a stay on attorney fee payment, and for 

Commission review on the untimely notice issue. 

 

Woodell II. 

Alaska Regional Hospital v. Woodell, AWCAC Order on Motion for Stay and Order on Petition 

for Review (October 15, 2019). 

 

Commission Panel:      Dee Ford, James Rhodes, Steve Hagedorn 

Representatives:   Joe Kalmarides for Employee 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issues:  

 

1) Should Woodell I’s attorney fee award be stayed and the case remanded for credibility 

findings? 

2) Was Employee’s claim for benefits barred for failure to give timely notice? 

 

Results: 

 

1) Yes. 

2) The Commission retained jurisdiction over issue (2) pending the remand on (1). 

 

Discussion: 

 

1) The Commission determined that if Employer paid the Woodell I attorney fee award, and if the 

Commission ultimately agreed with Employer’s position on its petition for review on the notice 

issue, Employer could never recover the over-payment because there would be no benefits from 

which it could recoup.  Therefore, the Commission stayed the attorney fee payment. 

 

2) The Commission also determined that witness credibility was not sufficiently developed.  

Specifically, it remanded the matter so the Board could make credibility findings about Employer’s 

witness Miller.  It retained jurisdiction to rule on Employer’s petition for review on the timely 

notice issue until after the Board made explicit credibility findings on Employer’s witness. 

 

Note that since Employer’s witness Miller (who was not the charge nurse) said nothing about the 

notice issue, which was the only issue heard in Woodell I, it is curious why the Commission thought 

the Board’s view of her credibility on a non-issue (causation) was relevant to the notice issue.  

Perhaps the Commission considered that Woodell I had also apparently decided causation; if so, 

the Commission did not say so, but this is the only explanation that makes sense. 

 

The case went back to the Board for credibility findings. 

 

  

170



Woodell III. 
 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, AWCB Dec. No. 19-0122 (November 27, 2019). 

 

Board Panel:    Jung Yeo, Kimberly Ziegler, Nancy Shaw 

 

Representatives:   Joe Kalmarides for Employee 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issue:  

 

Should Employer’s witness from Woodell I be accorded any weight? 

 

Results: 

 

No. 

 

Discussion: 

 

On remand, the Board reviewed the record and found: Employer’s hearing witness for Woodell I, 

Miller, was Vice President of its Human Resources Department.  She had stated that Employer 

reviewed patient records and could not identify a patient with C. Diff that Employee had cared for, 

or any patient in the unit that had C. Diff during the time he became ill.  Employer did not produce 

patient records or summaries of records it allegedly reviewed.  That witness had also admitted at 

the Woodell I hearing that Employer’s investigation did not include speaking to the charge nurse.  

The reason: they thought she would not be able to remember.  The Board noted that Miller never 

said the charge nurse was not available for interview.  The Board found it was unreasonable for 

Employer’s investigation to assume the charge nurse would not be able to accurately recall 

information, and instead chose to conduct an incomplete investigation.  The witness had further 

testified that she was not “an expert in the patient side of things.”  The Board gave her testimony 

no weight; Woodell I remained unchanged. 

 

Note that in addition to reviewing notice evidence, the panel revisited the hearing testimony from 

Woodell I and again discussed evidence that addressed causation (i.e., the Miller testimony that 

alleged an absence of a patient who had C. Diff). 

 

After the Board issued Woodell III, Employer’s petition asking the Commission to review the 

notice issue was now ripe for the Commission’s decision. 

 

  

171



Woodell IV. 
 

Alaska Regional Hospital v. Woodell, AWCAC Order on Petition for Review (January 21, 2020). 

 

Commission Panel:  Dee Ford, James Rhodes, Steve Hagedorn 

 

Representatives:   Joe Kalmarides for Employee 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issue:  

 

Was Employee’s claim barred for failure to give timely notice? 

 

Results: 

 

No. 

 

Discussion: 

 

The Commission found the Board’s credibility findings were binding.  Moreover, it said, “In 

addition to the lack of credibility must be added to the information that [Employer] is not able to 

provide an alternative source for the C. Diff exposure.”  The Commission held that Employee 

provided oral notice to his charge nurse the day after his exposure.  This created “actual notice.”  

Substantial evidence supported the Board’s notice decision.  The Commission denied Employer’s 

petition for review, affirmed the “decisions and orders of the Board” and vacated the stay on 

attorney fees. 

 

Note again that the only issue set for hearing in Woodell I was timely notice and associated attorney 

fees.  Causation was not yet an issue, but so far all four decisions addressed it.  The Commission 

had also expressly accepted the Board’s factual findings and conclusions regarding causation. 

 

The case was now on track to eventually progress to a merits hearing. 

 

  

172



Woodell V. 
 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, AWCB Dec. No. 20-0018 (April 2, 2020). 

 

Board Panel:    Jung Yeo, Sara Faulkner, Nancy Shaw 

Representatives:   Kade Waddell represented himself 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issues:  

 

1) Should Employee’s claim be dismissed for his failure to obey a discovery order? 

2) Did the Board’s designee abuse her discretion on Employer’s discovery request? 

 

Results: 

 

1) No. 

2) Yes and no. 

 

Discussion: 

 

1) The Board found Employee’s attorney had withdrawn, and gave him lenience with procedural 

requirements.  It excused Employee’s two-day late appeal from a discovery order as Employer was 

not prejudiced by the minor tardiness. 

2) The Board designee had ordered Employee provide discovery.  The Board found that the 

designee’s order requiring Employee to identify any C. Diff patients to which he was exposed 

violated HIPAA statutes, and reversed that order.  While affirming the Board designee’s order 

granting discovery of the charge nurse’s identity and other information, it added, “However, 

discovery shall not be conducted, and evidence discovered may not be used, to revisit the notice 

issue already litigated and decided in Woodell I and Woodell II because the notice issue is barred 

by collateral estoppel.” 

 

Note that as a practical matter, collateral estoppel probably would not have barred the use of any 

new information on the notice issue, because no prior decision had been “final,” which is a 

requirement for collateral estoppel to apply.  But modification rules under AS 23.30.130 prevented 

additional discovery from being used to change the outcome on the notice issue, because Employer 

could have and should have obtained that evidence before the Woodell I hearing. 

 

Discovery continued. . . .  

 

  

173



Woodell VI. 

 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, AWCB Dec. No. 20-0060 (July 21, 2020). 

 

Board Panel:   Jung Yeo, Randy Beltz, Nancy Shaw 

 

Representatives:  Employee represented himself 

       Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issues:  

 

1) Was the oral order denying Employee’s appeal from a discovery order correct? 

2) Was the oral order compelling Employee to sign an updated medical release correct? 

 

Results: 

 

1) Yes. 

2) Yes. 

 

Discussion: 

 

The Board denied Employee’s appeal from another  discovery order and found the designee had 

not abused his discretion when he denied Employee’s request for a protective order regarding 

medical releases.  It properly ordered him to promptly sign appropriate releases. 

 

Discovery continued. . . . 

 

  

174



Woodell VII. 
 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, AWCB Dec. No. 20-0081 (September 21, 2020). 

 

Board Panel:   Jung Yeo, Diane Thompson, Nancy Shaw 

 

Representatives:  Employee represented himself 

       Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issues:  Finally, the merits of his claim (with one preliminary issue)! 

 

1) Was the order declining to honor Employer’s untimely Smallwood objections correct? 

2) Did Employee’s C. Diff infection arise out of and in the course of his employment? 

3) Is Employee entitled to a PTD benefit award? 

4) Is Employee entitled to a TTD benefit award? 

5) Is Employee entitled to medical care and related transportation costs? 

6) Is Employee entitled to a late-payment penalty? 

7) Was Employer’s July 20, 2020 controversion notice unfair or frivolous? 

8) Is Employee entitled to interest? 

9) Is Employee entitled to attorney fees and costs? 

 

Results: 

 

1) Yes. 

2) Yes. 

3) No. 

4) Yes. 

5) Yes. 

6) No. 

7) No.  

8) Yes. 

9) No. 

 

Discussion: 

 

1) The Board found Employer’s three requests for cross-examination (Smallwood objections) were 

untimely because none were filed within 10 days of Employee’s affidavit of readiness for hearing 

(ARH).  It relied on 8 AAC 45.052(c)(2) and found that two requests were filed prematurely and 

one was filed late.  The relevant regulations state in part: 

 

• All parties have to file medical records on Medical Summaries and serve the summaries and 

the records on the opposing parties.  Each party has a continuing duty to do this within five 

days of receiving new records. 

• If a party files an ARH that party also has to simultaneously file a Smallwood objection on 

any medical report listed on any Medical Summaries that had been filed to that date. 

175



• If a party served with an ARH wants to Smallwood medical reports listed on any Medical 

Summaries that had been filed to that service date, that party has to file and serve a Smallwood 

objection within 10 days after service of the ARH. 

• After an ARH has been filed and until the claim is heard or otherwise resolved, all updated 

Medical Summaries must be accompanied by a Smallwood objection if the party filing the 

Medical Summary wants to Smallwood a report on it.  A party served with an updated Medical 

Summary with the medical records listed attached wants to Smallwood anything on it they 

must do so within 10 days after service of the updated Medical Summary. 

• But the main thing is, if your Smallwood objection “is not in accordance with this section, 

the party waives the right to request cross-examination regarding a medical report listed on the 

updated medical summary.” 

• If you mess up and waive your right to cross-examine a medical report’s author, you can still 

at hearing present as your witness the medical record’s author’s testimony.  In other words, you 

can pay for the doctors’ time and direct-examine them. 

 

Therefore, the Board held Employer had waived its right to cross-examine those doctors on their 

reports that were favorable to Employee, and the reports could be considered. 

 

2) Causation: Employee queried why the Board thought that was still an issue, since Woodell I and 

the Commission in Woodell II had already found that he contracted C. Diff on September 21, 2018, 

while at work.  The chair simply told the parties to proceed.  The Board found Employee raised 

the presumption of compensability with his testimony and with his physicians’ opinions, including 

those that came in because Employer had waived its Smallwood objections.  It found that Miller’s 

testimony and an additional witness’ testimony were hearsay and could not support a decision.  It 

found the EME physician’s opinions were also uncertain and inconclusive and not substantial 

evidence to overcome the presumption.  The Board found the EME physician failed to give an 

alternative explanation for Employee’s C. Diff infection.  He also failed to rule out work as the 

substantial cause of his infection.  The Board found Employer did not meet the negative-evidence 

or the affirmative-evidence tests under Huit.  Thus, Employee prevailed solely on the raised but 

unrebutted presumption. 

 

3) The Board found Employee failed to raise the presumption on his PTD claim and had no 

evidence to support it; it denied his request for PTD benefits. 

 

4) Since the Board found the C. Diff infection was work-related, Employee was entitled to TTD 

benefits.  It ordered Employer to calculate and pay TTD benefits in accordance with the Act. 

 

5) Employee was entitled to medical care and transportation costs and Employer was directed to 

provide it and reimburse other entities that had paid Employee’s work-related bills. 

 

6) The Board found Employer’s Controversion Notice was filed in good faith and Employee was 

not entitled to a penalty on unpaid TTD benefits. 

 

7) Since the Board found the controversion was in good faith, Employee’s request for an unfair or 

frivolous controversion finding was denied. 

 

176



8) Interest is mandatory; the Board awarded it in accordance with the Act. 

 

9) The Board found that since Employee was not represented by an attorney, he was not entitled 

to attorney fees or costs. 

 

Note that one could wonder why, when the Board found that Employer failed to rebut the 

presumption on causation that it also found Employer’s Controversion Notice was filed in “good 

faith.”  The answer is that Woodell VII relied on a Commission decision (Ford), which had 

interpreted an “unfair or frivolous” controversion to include an element of “subjective bad faith” 

on the controverter’s part.  About five weeks after Woodell VII issued, the Court in Vue expressly 

overruled that part of the Commission’s analysis in Ford.  Under Harp, Runstrom and Vue, when 

there is inadequate evidence to rebut the presumption, or to support a controversion, the Board 

finds an unfair or frivolous controversion and awards an associated penalty. 

 

Employer appealed Woodell VII, which was a final decision, to the Commission primarily on 

grounds that the Board erred by not allowing Employer to cross-examine treating physicians 

whose reports Employer had Smallwooded, and in finding the evidence presented about non-

existent C. Diff cases in the hospital at the time Employee asserted he contracted the disease 

was “contradictory and unreliable.” 

 

  

177



Woodell VIII. 
 

Alaska Regional Hospital v. Woodell, AWCAC Dec. No. 288 (June 16, 2021). 

 

Commission Panel:  Dee Ford, James Rhodes, Steve Hagedorn 

 

Representatives:   Employee represented himself 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issue:  

 

Did Woodell VII violate Employer’s due process rights by finding it had waived its Smallwood 

objections? 

 

Results: 

 

Yes. 

 

Discussion: 

 

The Commission’s Woodell VIII decision, titled “final,” admitted that Woodell I made factual 

findings that were not “explicitly appealed.”  Among those was a finding that on September 21, 

2018, Employee “developed a C. Diff infection while working for” Employer.  It further noted, 

“The Commission [in Woodell II] accepted the Board’s findings of fact in Woodell I.”  Referring 

to Woodell IV, the Commission again stated that it “accepted the Board’s findings of fact that 

[Employee] contracted C. Diff while working for” Employer.  The Commission cited Employee’s 

question at the Woodell VII hearing about why the Board was hearing new causation evidence 

when the Board [twice] had previously found that he contracted his C. Diff at work for Employer 

and the Commission [twice] had accepted those findings on petitions for review.  It noted that the 

designated chair at the Woodell VII hearing never addressed Employee’s question. 

 

Employer eventually had admitted Employee had C. Diff, but continued to dispute it was related 

to his work.  Employee contended that Woodell VII had correctly awarded him benefits and pointed 

out that the Board had previously found [twice] that his C. Diff was contracted at work and that 

the Commission had [twice] accepted that finding.  For the third time, the Commission in Woodell 

VIII “accepted the Board’s findings of fact,” which it said it had to do as they were supported by 

substantial evidence.  It stated that at the Woodell VII hearing, the Board did not allow Employee 

to develop his argument about Employer getting a third bite at the causation apple. 

 

The Commission said, “Although [Employer] categorized this as a question of causation, the 

Board, in Woodell I, already had made that finding of fact when it stated that [Employee] was 

exposed to C. Diff while working at [Employer] on September 21, 2018, in determining his notice 

of injury was timely.” 

 

The Commission addressed the “law of the case” doctrine, which prohibits reconsideration of 

issues that had already been adjudicated in a previous appeal in the same case absent exceptional 

178



circumstances.  Here the Commission’s analysis began to become more difficult to follow.  It 

correctly noted that Woodell I, II and III were “focused” on the notice issue.  Nevertheless, it stated, 

“However many of the same facts or evidence are necessary to determine whether he gave timely 

notice of his injury and whether his work at the hospital was the source of his C. Diff diagnosis.” 

 

Note that even if Employee was mistaken and it was ultimately determined at a merits hearing that 

there was no patient with C. Diff in the hospital, he was still required to give timely notice that he 

thought he was exposed to somebody with C. Diff.  If the parties had wanted the issues in the 

Woodell I hearing to be “notice,” and “causation,” they could have and should have set both issues 

for hearing.  But they did not. 

 

The Commission continued, “Therefore, while [Employee] did attempt to raise the issue at hearing, 

and the doctrine of law of the case would appear to be applicable, thus, entitling him to the benefits 

awarded by the Board, the Commission, nonetheless, does not base its decision on this issue.” 

 

It then moved on to the question of substantial evidence to support the Board’s decision at the 

Woodell VII hearing and stated, “The Commission must accept the credibility findings of the 

Board.  Since the Board implicitly found [Employer’s witnesses] not credible, the Commission 

must affirm the Board’s award of benefits” to Employee. 

 

The Commission then addressed the Smallwood issue.  Employer relied on 8 AAC 45.120, which 

is the regulation regarding requests to cross-examine authors of non-medical documents.  The 

Commission accepted Employer’s argument on §.120, which states that, with exception of medical 

records which fall under §.052, the Board at hearing can rely on any filed and served document in 

the Board’s possession 20 or more days before hearing, unless those documents are subject to a 

request for cross-examination, at least 10 days before the hearing.  The Commission held that “to 

whom it may concern” letters are not kept in the ordinary course of a physician’s practice, and 

while physicians sign them they are not “medical records,” which would ordinarily fall under §.052 

for Smallwood purposes.  It concluded that under §.120, which applied to non-medical documents, 

Employer’s three Smallwood objections were all timely, and Woodell VII violated Employer’s due 

process rights by not allowing it the right to cross-examine the Smallwooded physicians.  It 

remanded the case to the Board to allow Employer the right to cross-examine these doctors. 

 

Note: Woodell VIII did not reverse Woodell VII.  It remanded it to give Employer the right to cross-

examine the subject medical record authors.  Because it remanded to the Board, Woodell VIII was  

not a “final” decision.  It was actually interlocutory according to the Court in Huit. 

 

The case went back to the Board for another hearing and some cross-examination of those 

Smallwooded medical report authors. 

 

  

179



Woodell IX. 
 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, AWCB Dec. No. 22-0019 (March 16, 2022). 

 

Board Panel:    Judith Demarsh, Randy Beltz, Nancy Shaw 

Representatives:   Kade Woodell represented himself 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issues:  

 

Was the oral order continuing the hearing correct? 

 

Results: 

 

Yes. 

 

Discussion: 

 

Employee requested another hearing on his claim in October 2021.  Employer had obtained two 

additional EMEs in October and December 2021.  The Board scheduled a hearing for January 20, 

2022, on Employee’s remanded claim and on his request to strike the second EME’s report and 

deposition because he had not had a fair opportunity to conduct a complete cross-examination at 

that physician’s deposition in December. 

 

At the January 2022 hearing, Employee testified that he had not understood that it was his 

responsibility to make the physicians subject of Employer’s Smallwood objections available for 

cross-examination.  The Board continued the hearing when Employer agreed to make its second 

EME available for a longer deposition in February 2022.  Employer continued to assert that its due 

process rights had been violated because Employee had still not made physicians who wrote “to 

whom it may concern” opinion letters available for cross-examination. 

 

Given the above analysis, Woodell IX decided that its oral order continuing the January 2022 

hearing was correct.  It further informed Employee that if he wanted to rely on any of his 

physicians’ letters, he had to present the physicians for cross-examination either by deposition or 

at the next hearing.  In other words, he had to pay for Employer’s opportunity to cross-examine 

his physicians on their letters. 

 

The remand hearing was continued and then rescheduled. 

 

  

180



Woodell X. 
 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, AWCB Dec. No. 22-0051 (July 14, 2022). 

 

Board Panel:   Judith Demarsh, Michael Dennis, Bronson Frye 

Representatives:  Kade Woodell represented himself 

       Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issues:  

 

1) Was the oral order excluding Employee’s physicians’ letters correct? 

2) Does the “law of the case” doctrine apply? 

3) Did Employee’s C. Diff infection arise out of and in the course of his employment with 

Employer? 

 

Results: 

 

1) Yes. 

2) No. 

3) No. 

 

Discussion: 

 

The Board in Woodell X found that new EME physicians had performed record reviews and 

determined that work injury was not the substantial cause of Employee’s C. Diff.  Their opinions 

ruled out Employee’s work with Employer as a substantial factor and said he was probably just a 

chronic carrier.  Employer also presented testimony about its protocol for alerting staff if a patient 

has C. Diff, and how it found Employee was never exposed to a C. Diff patient.  The Board found 

this credible; Employee had inconsistencies in his testimony that detracted from his credibility. 

 

1) On the first issue, relying on the last Commission decision, the Board found Employee’s 

physicians’ letters were inadmissible because he had not provided cross-examination. 

 

2) Employee contended the findings of fact, conclusions of law and orders in Woodell VII “cannot 

be altered on remand.”  Employer contended the “law of the case” doctrine did not apply because 

its due process rights had been violated in Woodell VII.  The Board concluded that, as Woodell VII 

had relied on Smallwooded reports, Employer had a right to a hearing de novo. 

 

3) On the causation issue, the Board applied the presumption analysis, found Employee had raised 

the presumption, Employer had rebutted it, and the medical evidence weighed in Employer’s favor.  

Of course, the attending physician’s reports that supported Employee’s position were not 

considered based upon Woodell VIII.  The Board found Employee’s reports to his physicians and 

his testimony were not credible and gave him and his physicians’ admissible opinions no weight.  

It found Employee was unable to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his work injury 

arose out of and in the course of his employment or that employment was the substantial cause of 

his disability and need for medical treatment.  The Board denied Employee’s claim. 

181



Undaunted, Employee appealed this decision to the Commission. 

 

Woodell XI. 
 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, AWCAC Dec. No. 302 (April 19, 2023). 

 

Commission Panel:  Dee Ford, James Rhodes, Steve Hagedorn 

 

Representatives:   Employee represented himself 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issues:  

 

1) Did Woodell X properly apply the “law of the case” doctrine. 

2) Was Woodell X supported by substantial evidence? 

3) Was the hearing officer biased against Employee? 

 

Results: 

 

1) Yes. 

2) Yes. 

3) No. 

 

Discussion: 

 

1) The Commission in Woodell XI held that the “law of the case” generally applied to issues 

determined on appeal.  Therefore, it did not apply to a hearing on remand of a prior Board decision.  

It considered that the Commission’s Woodell VIII remand “undid the findings of fact and credibility 

findings” in Woodell VII, and held that the Board properly granted a hearing de novo. 

 

2) The Commission held that the Board had properly applied the presumption analysis and 

Employee could not prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  And it found that the 

Board had properly excluded the previously Smallwooded doctors’ letters.  It affirmed the Board’s 

decision. 

 

3) Lastly, the Board found Employee had provided no evidence that the hearing officer was biased 

against him.  In summary, Woodell XI affirmed Woodell X in all respects. 

 

Employee appealed this decision to the Alaska Supreme Court. 

 

  

182



Woodell XII. 
 

Woodell v. Alaska Regional Hospital, Slip Op. S-18740 (September 19, 2025). 

 

Representatives:   Employee represented himself 

        Krista Schwarting for Employer 

 

Issues:  

 

1) Was the Commission’s Woodell VIII decision properly before the Court? 

2) Was the Board’s Woodell VII interpretation of §.052 reasonable? 

3) If the Court reversed the Commission’s Woodell VIII decision, what is the proper 

remedy? 

 

Results: 

 

1) Yes. 

2) Yes. 

3) Reinstate the Board’s 2020 Woodell VII decision. 

 

Discussion: 

 

1) The Court held that the Commission’s Woodell VIII decision was properly before it.  Even 

though the Commission titled that decision “final,” it was not and therefore not appealable because 

it remanded the case.  Only after the Commission’s final decision did Employee have a right to 

appeal; when he did, all previous interlocutory decisions were before the Court. 

 

2) The Court next held that Woodell VII’s interpretation of §.052 was reasonable.  It went through 

a detailed explanation of the rule-making process that resulted in the Board adopting §.052, which 

clarified and simplified the rules related to filing evidence and requesting cross-examination of 

authors of different kinds of evidence.  The Court found the Board’s interpretation of §.052 made 

more sense than the Commission’s given this history and decades of usage. 

 

3) The Court had asked the parties to provide briefing on a remedy if the Court decided to reverse 

Woodell III.  Employer insisted that Woodell III was not properly before the Court and the Court 

could not review it.  Employee said that the right thing to do would be to reinstate Woodell VII and 

award a penalty against Employer for a frivolous controversion. 

 

The Court found Employer waived any argument about the proper remedy.  The Court concluded 

that “the Board’s 2020 decision awarding benefits should be reinstated.”  However, if he wanted 

to pursue a penalty or other claims, Employee must use the Board process.  It reversed in part the 

Commission’s 2021 decision (Woodell VIII), vacated the 2022 Board decisions entered after the 

Commission’s remand (Woodell IX and X), vacated the Commission’s 2023 decision (Woodell XI) 

and remanded to the Commission to remand to the Board with instructions to reinstate the 2020 

award of compensation (Woodell VII) and “for further proceedings consistent with this decision.” 

183



TAB 8 

184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



TAB 9 

255



 

EVERNORTH.COM 

  

  

  
 
© 2025 MATRIX HEALTHCARE SERVICES, INC. | AN EXPRESS SCRIPTS COMPANY. | ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 

01 

Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development 
Division of Workers’ Compensation 
Submitted via email to workerscomp@alaska.gov  
 
October 16, 2025 
  
 
Re: Solicitation for Public Input – Workers’ Compensation Regulatory Revisions 
  
MyMatrixx, an Evernorth Company, appreciates the opportunity to submit comments in response to the 
Division of Workers’ Compensation’s recent solicitation for public input on potential workers’ compensation 

regulatory revisions. By way of background, MyMatrixx provides pharmacy benefit management services to 
several insurers, self-insured employers and third-party administrators specifically in the workers’ 

compensation market. Our strategic approach includes structuring customized client solutions around best-in-
class core services, supported by advanced trend-management and clinical-review programs, to ensure safety 
for injured workers, while aggressively controlling costs. 
 
MyMatrixx recommends the Division remove the following statement found in 8 AAC 45.081(e): “The Alaska 
Medicaid Preferred Drug List, Version 111809, revised as of November 18, 2009, is adopted by reference as 
the preferred drug list for purposes of the Act.” That statement refers to an old version of the state’s Medicaid 

Preferred Drug List (PDL). While we support the use of evidence-based medicine in workers’ compensation, 

including the use of drug formularies, we do not believe there is any practical reason for still referencing this 
outdated Medicaid PDL. Should the Division consider potential adoption of a current and relevant drug 
formulary for use in workers’ compensation claims, we would be happy to assist as an interested stakeholder 
with years of experience using drug formularies in workers’ compensation systems across the country. 
 
MyMatrixx thanks the Division for seeking stakeholder input, and we appreciate your consideration of our 
comments. If you have any questions regarding our comments, please contact me for further discussion.  
  
Sincerely,   
  

  
  
Adam Fowler    
Director, Workers’ Compensation Regulatory Affairs  
MyMatrixx by Evernorth  
MyMatrixx.com    
Adam.Fowler@MyMatrixx.com  

256

mailto:workerscomp@alaska.gov
http://www.mymatrixx.com/
http://www.mymatrixx.com/
mailto:Adam.Fowler@MyMatrixx.com



